

LUND UNIVERSITY

Proteomics of the human meniscus in health and osteoarthritis

Folkesson, Elin

2020

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Folkesson, E. (2020). *Proteomics of the human meniscus in health and osteoarthritis*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Proteomics of the human meniscus in health and osteoarthritis

ELIN FOLKESSON DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES, LUND | LUND UNIVERSITY



Proteomics of the human meniscus in health and osteoarthritis

Proteomics of the human meniscus in health and osteoarthritis

Elin Folkesson



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Belfragesalen, BMC D15, Lund, 24^{th} of January 2020, 9.00 a.m.

Faculty opponent Professor Farshid Guilak Department of Orthopaedic Surgery Washington University in St. Louis, USA

Organization	Document name					
	Doctoral dissertation	Doctoral dissertation				
Faculty of Medicine						
Department of Clinical Sciences Lund,						
Orthopaedics Author: Elin Folkesson	24th of January, 2020 Sponsoring organization					
	Sponsoning organization					
Title and subtitle Proteomics of the human meniscus in	Title and subtitle Proteomics of the human meniscus in health and osteoarthritis					
Abstract Introduction: Osteoarthritis (OA) is one of the most common causes of knee pain, and the most common form of arthritis. It causes pain and disability, and there is currently no cure. Recent research in knee OA highlights the role of the meniscus in OA pathology. In this thesis, the overall aim was to study the proteome and microstructure of the human meniscus, both in healthy subjects and OA patients, in order to increase our knowledge about the human meniscus and the processes that occur during degeneration and OA.						
Design: In the first part of this thesis, posterior horns of medial and lateral menisci from deceased donors and OA patients were analysed with histology and micro-computed tomography (μ CT), in order to compare the microstructure of healthy and OA menisci (paper I). In the second, and major part of this thesis, human menisci were analysed with mass spectrometry (MS)-based proteomics. First, meniscus body samples and articular cartilage samples from deceased donors were compared using two different MS-based methods – data-independent acquisition (DIA) and data-dependent acquisition (DDA) (paper II). Next, three zones (peripheral, middle and inner zone) of the body of the medial meniscus from deceased donors were compared using DIA (paper III). Lastly, meniscal plugs from the same meniscal posterior horns that had been used in paper I, were analysed with DIA.						
Results: In paper I, we found that higher histopathological scores were associated with more degeneration, and that medial menisci from OA patients had the highest degree of degeneration. We also observed that the degree of degeneration varied between the different sections of the meniscus. In paper II, we showed that the majority of the proteins were similar between articular cartilage and meniscus, but that there were nonetheless some proteomic differences. Furthermore, we found that DIA identified more differentially expressed proteins, with less missing values. In paper III, we observed that many proteins were common to all zones of the meniscus, and that the majority of meniscal proteins were associated with ECM organisation. The largest zonal differences were between the peripheral and inner zones. In paper IV, where we compared menisci from OA patients and deceased donors, we showed that the largest differences could be seen between the medial menisci from the two groups, and that there was an increase of proteoglycans and proteins such as MMP3 and TIMP1.						
Conclusions: Due to the many advantages of DIA, we considered it superior to DDA and used it in subsequent MS analyses. Although articular cartilage and meniscus had similar proteomic compositions, we detected several differences by MS. We also detected large differences between the peripheral and inner zones of the healthy meniscus body, probably related to the higher degree of cellularity and vascularisation in the peripheral zone. On the other hand, the middle and inner zones of the meniscus contained more extracellular proteins and therefore appeared to be more similar to articular cartilage. Comparison of healthy and OA menisci revealed increased degeneration of the OA menisci also had an increase of proteins such as MMP3 and TIMP1, which suggests simultaneous activation of both catabolic and anabolic processes. The increased degeneration in OA menisci suggests a strong association between OA and meniscal degeneration.						
Key words Osteoarthritis, meniscus, cartilage, proteomics, mass spectrometry, knee joint						
Classification system and/or index term	ns (if any)					
		Language English				
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-7619-873-5				
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 82	Price				
Security classification						
I the undersigned, being the convright o	wher of the chatract of the above m	ontioned dissortation, hereby grant to all				

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Ely Folken

Date 2019-12-10

Proteomics of the human meniscus in health and osteoarthritis

Elin Folkesson



Cover photo by Louise Larsson

Copyright pp 1-82 (Elin Folkesson) Paper 1 © 2019 by the Authors (Published open access, Elsevier) Paper 2 © 2018 by the Authors (Published open access, Springer Nature) Paper 3 © by the Authors (Unpublished manuscript) Paper 4 © by the Authors (Unpublished manuscript)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Orthopaedics

ISBN 978-91-7619-873-5 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2020



Media-Tryck is an environmentally certified and ISO 14001:2015 certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



Till morfar

Table of Contents

List of papers	
Abbreviations	11
Abstract	12
Introduction	15
Knee osteoarthritis	15
Prevalence	15
Risk factors and symptoms	15
Affected tissues in the knee	15
Diagnosis and Treatments	16
The meniscus	
The normal meniscus	
Meniscus pathology	21
Proteomics	24
Techniques	24
Aims of the thesis	27
Material and Methods	
Study designs	29
Study populations	
Meniscectomy and TKR patients	
Deceased donors	
Terminology	
Proteomic analyses (papers II, III and IV)	
Sample preparation	
MS platforms	
Discovery MS	
MS data analysis	

Microstructural analyses (paper I)	
Sample preparation for microstructural analyses	
Histopathology	
<i>Ex vivo</i> micro-computed tomography (µCT)	
Statistical analyses	
Results	41
Paper I	
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	
Discussion	
Conclusions	61
Future perspectives	63
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)	65
Acknowledgements	67
References	71

List of papers

Papers and manuscripts included in this thesis:

- I. Kestilä, I*, Folkesson, E*, Finnilä, M.A, Turkiewicz, A, Önnerfjord, P, Hughes, H.V, Englund, M, Saarakkala, S. Three-dimensional microstructure of human meniscus posterior horn in health and osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 2019; 27(12): 1790-1799. *Contributed equally.
- II. Folkesson, E, Turkiewicz, A, Englund, M, Önnerfjord P. Differences in protein expression using data-dependent and data-independent acquisition mass spectrometry in the analysis of human knee articular cartilage and menisci: a pilot analysis. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 2018; 19(1): 416.
- III. Folkesson, E, Turkiewicz, A, Rydén, M, Hughes, H.V, Ali, N, Tjörnstrand, J, Önnerfjord, P, Englund, M. Proteomic characterization of the normal human medial meniscus body using data-independent acquisition mass spectrometry. *In revision.*
- IV. Folkesson, E, Turkiewicz, A, Ali, N, Rydén, M, Hughes, H.V, Tjörnstrand, J, Önnerfjord, P, Englund, M. Proteomic comparison of osteoarthritic and reference human menisci using data-independent acquisition mass spectrometry. *In progress.*

Abbreviations

ACL	anterior cruciate ligament
BMI	body mass index
CI	confidence interval
DIGE	differential in-gel electrophoresis
ECM	extracellular matrix
FDR	false discovery rate
GO	gene ontology
HE	haematoxylin and eosin
HMDS	hexamethyldisilazane
lateral ^{OA}	lateral menisci from medial compartment knee osteoarthritis patients
lateral ^{ref}	lateral menisci from reference subjects (deceased donors)
LC	liquid chromatography
LXR/RXR	liver X receptor/retinoid X receptor
μCΤ	micro-computed tomography
medial ^{OA}	medial menisci from medial compartment knee osteoarthritis patients
medial ^{ref}	medial menisci from reference subjects (deceased donors)
MMP	matrix metalloprotease
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
MS	mass spectrometry
OA	osteoarthritis
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PCL	posterior cruciate ligament
PPI	protein-protein interactions
RA	rheumatoid arthritis
RhoGDI	Rho guanosine diphosphate (GDP) dissociation inhibitor
SafO-FG	safranin-O–Fast Green
SLRP	small leucine-rich proteoglycan
TIMP	metalloproteinase inhibitor
TKR	total knee replacement

Abstract

Introduction

Osteoarthritis (OA) is one of the most common causes of knee pain, and the most common form of arthritis. It causes pain and disability, and there is currently no cure. Recent research in knee OA highlights the role of the meniscus in OA pathology. In this thesis, the overall aim was to study the proteome and microstructure of the human meniscus, both in healthy subjects and OA patients, in order to increase our knowledge about the human meniscus and the processes that occur during degeneration and OA.

Design

In the first part of this thesis, posterior horns of medial and lateral menisci from deceased donors and OA patients were analysed with histology and micro-computed tomography (μ CT), in order to compare the microstructure of healthy and OA menisci (**paper I**). In the second, and major part of this thesis, human menisci were analysed with mass spectrometry (MS)-based proteomics. First, meniscus body samples and articular cartilage samples from deceased donors were compared using two different MS-based methods – data-independent acquisition (DIA) and data-dependent acquisition (DDA) (**paper II**). Next, three zones (peripheral, middle and inner zone) of the body of the medial meniscus from deceased donors were compared using DIA (**paper III**). Lastly, meniscal plugs from the same meniscal posterior horns that had been used in **paper I**, were analysed with DIA.

Results

In **paper I**, we found that higher histopathological scores were associated with more degeneration, and that medial menisci from OA patients had the highest degree of degeneration. We also observed that the degree of degeneration varied between the different sections of the meniscus. In **paper II**, we showed that the majority of the proteins were similar between articular cartilage and meniscus, but that there were nonetheless some proteomic differences. Furthermore, we found that DIA identified more differentially expressed proteins, with less missing values. In **paper III**, we observed that many proteins were common to all zones of the meniscus, and that the majority of meniscal proteins were associated with ECM organisation. The largest zonal differences were between the peripheral and inner zones. In **paper IV**, where we compared menisci from OA patients and deceased donors, we showed that the largest differences could be seen between the medial menisci from the two groups, and that there was an increase of proteoglycans and proteins such as MMP3 and TIMP1.

Conclusions

Due to the many advantages of DIA, we considered it superior to DDA and used it in subsequent MS analyses. Although articular cartilage and meniscus had similar proteomic compositions, we detected several differences by MS. We also detected large differences between the peripheral and inner zones of the healthy meniscus body, probably related to the higher degree of cellularity and vascularisation in the peripheral zone. On the other hand, the middle and inner zones of the meniscus contained more extracellular proteins and therefore appeared to be more similar to articular cartilage. Comparison of healthy and OA menisci revealed increased degeneration of the OA menisci, with more disorganised collagen networks and the presence of cysts and calcifications. The OA menisci also had an increase of proteins such as MMP3 and TIMP1, which suggests simultaneous activation of both catabolic and anabolic processes. The increased degeneration in OA menisci suggests a strong association between OA and meniscal degeneration.

Introduction

Knee osteoarthritis

Prevalence

The prevalence of knee pain has increased considerably during the last 20 years, and approximately 1 in 4 adults suffer from frequent knee pain^{1,2}. One of the most common causes of knee pain in the older population is osteoarthritis $(OA)^3$. OA is also one of the top causes of years lived with disability in the world^{4,5}. In Sweden, approximately 26% of all adults over 45 years of age have doctor-diagnosed OA, with the knee being the most affected joint⁶.

Risk factors and symptoms

The major risk factors for knee OA include overweight and obesity, previous knee injury, increasing age, female gender and occupational activities such as kneeling or heavy lifting⁷. In addition, more than 20 genetic loci associated with OA have been identified, indicating a genetic component in OA aetiology⁸. The most common symptoms in knee OA are pain and stiffness of the knee joint, which can lead to loss of function and problems in daily life⁹. In OA, there is a large discordance between the symptoms that patients experience and the presence of radiographic changes, which means that a patient with no symptoms can show changes in the joint by imaging, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or X-ray, and vice versa.

Affected tissues in the knee

Generally, OA is described as the loss of homeostasis between synthesis and degradation of extracellular matrix (ECM) components, although the reason for this imbalance is still unknown¹⁰. OA is traditionally characterised by loss of cartilage and changes to the underlying subchondral bone, such as the formation of bone cysts and osteophytes¹¹. It has also been established that there is some synovitis and inflammation in OA^{12,13}. Additionally, recent research in knee OA has highlighted an important role for the meniscus in OA aetiology and pathogenesis^{14,15}.

Diagnosis and treatment

The most common way of diagnosing OA today is through a combination of medical history, symptoms and a medical examination. Sometimes, further tests such as a radiographic examination may be necessary, but the findings may be non-specific. There are no laboratory tests or biochemical markers that are being used in the clinic, although there is a lot of research in this area⁹.

One way of visually assessing the severity of tissue degradation in the knee joint during OA is using the Outerbridge classification system. The system was originally developed to classify chondromalacia patella, but has since been used to classify other chondral lesions in the body¹⁶. The system assigns a grade of 0 to IV to the chondral area of interest, where 0 is normal cartilage and IV includes erosion of the cartilage and exposed subchondral bone (Table 1)¹⁶⁻¹⁸.

Table 1.

Grade	Features
0	Normal articular cartilage
I	Softening and swelling of articular cartilage
II	Fibrillation and/or superficial fissuring of articular cartilage
III	Deep fissuring of articular cartilage (without exposed subchondral bone)
IV	Erosion and full-thickness loss of articular cartilage which exposed subchondral bone

Features of the Modified Outerbridge classification system of chondral lesions^{16,17}.

There is currently no cure for OA, and the majority of treatment options are focused on relieving symptoms, by reducing pain and disability. This is mainly done by pharmacological treatment with analgesics and anti-inflammatory drugs, and rehabilitative methods such as physiotherapy, exercise and weight-loss. For severe, endstage OA, the gold standard is total knee replacement (TKR), where the damaged joint is replaced by a prosthesis. Today, TKR is one of the most common surgical procedures, and the number of surgeries is expected to rise¹⁹. During the last 25 years, research has also increasingly targeted regenerative treatments and biological reconstructions of the joint²⁰, where for example Brittberg *et al.* were among the first to present data on autologous transplantation of chondrocytes²¹. Stem cells have also been proposed as potential disease-modifying treatments in musculoskeletal disorders, although more research is needed to fully elucidate the potential of stem cells in OA²².

The meniscus

The normal meniscus

Etymology and function

The term *meniscus* comes from the Greek word $\mu\eta\nu(\sigma\kappa\sigma\varsigma)$ (meniskos) which means "crescent". It is the diminutive of $\mu\eta\nu\eta$ (mene) which means "moon"²³. They are so named due to their crescent shape, although the lateral meniscus is more circular in shape compared to the medial. There are two menisci in each knee, one medial and one lateral, where they reside as two fibrocartilaginous wedges between the medial and lateral femoral condyles and the tibial plateau (Fig. 1). They are generally divided into three zones; the posterior horn, central body and anterior horn (Fig. 2). First believed to be a vestigial remnant from embryonal development without function, we now know that the menisci have important roles in the knee, such as in shock absorption, load transmission and joint stabilisation^{24–26}. In addition, the menisci have also been proposed to be involved in joint lubrication, nutrition and proprioception of the knee²⁷.



Figure 1.

Anterior view of the anatomy of the knee joint. Reproduced with permission from Makris et al., Biomaterials, 2011²⁸.

Embryonic development

During embryonic development, the menisci are formed as a result of condensation of the intermediate layer of the mesenchymal tissue surrounding the joint capsule, and they reach their characteristic shape between the 8th and 10th week of gestation^{29,30}. During development, the menisci contain a high number of cells and are completely vascularised. As the foetus becomes more developed, the degree of vascularisation and the number of cells start to decrease, and the collagen content increases²⁷.

Attachment

The medial and lateral menisci are attached to several other structures in the knee, including to each other (through the anterior horns). The posterior and anterior horns of both the medial and lateral menisci are also attached to the tibia. Further, the peripheral zone and the central body of the medial meniscus are attached to the joint capsule and the deep medial collateral ligament, making it less mobile than the lateral meniscus^{31,32}. Another difference is that, since the lateral meniscus has a more circular shape, it covers a larger area of the tibial surface than the medial meniscus³².



Figure 2.

Anatomy of the tibial plateau with menisci and ligaments, as seen from above.

Vascularisation and innervation

The meniscus, in contrast to articular cartilage, is both vascularised and innervated^{30,33–36}. In the adult meniscus, the outer and middle zones (also called red-red zone and white-red zone) are vascularised (Fig. 3)³⁴. The inner zone (also called white-white zone) of the meniscus has very low blood supply, if any. Blood supply affects the healing capacity of the meniscus, which appears to be better in the vascularised zones³⁴. The main part of the blood supply originates from the medial, lateral and middle geniculate

arteries³⁷. The vascularised zones of the meniscus rely on blood for their supply of nutrients, while the avascular zone is dependent on other methods of nourishment. For example, nutrients may be received from the synovial fluid via diffusion²³. Furthermore, one study of human and bovine menisci reported that the menisci have canal-like structures that penetrate from the surface deeper into the tissue, which might also be a way of providing the avascular parts of the meniscus with nutrients from the surrounding synovial fluid³⁸.

The menisci are also innervated, and the nerve supply follows roughly the same pattern as the vascularisation, penetrating the joint capsule to reach the menisci^{30,35,36}. Three types of mechanoreceptors have been identified in human menisci – Ruffini endings, Pacinian corpuscles and Golgi tendon organs – of which all appear to be more prominent in the horns of the meniscus, and in the posterior horn in particular²⁷.



Figure 3.

Regional variations in vascularisation and cell types of the meniscus. *Left:* During development, the menisci are completely vascularised and contain a large number of cells. At later stages of gestation, both vascularisation and cellularity decrease. In adulthood, the red-red zone contains the majority of blood vessels, although some can be found in the white-red zone, whereas the white-white zone is completely avascular. *Right:* Cells in the peripheral, vascularised zone of the meniscus are elongated and fibroblast-like in appearance, while cells in the middle and inner zones are more round and chondrocyte-like. The superficial layer of the meniscus has been reported to host progenitor cells. Reproduced with permission from Makris *et al., Biomaterials*, 2011²⁸.

Cells of the meniscus

Unlike articular cartilage, which only has one cell-type (chondrocytes)³³, the meniscus contains several different cell types in its different regions^{39,40}. In the peripheral and middle zones of the meniscus, the cells are mostly elongated and fibroblast-like, whereas in the inner zone, the cells are mostly round and chondrocyte-like (Fig. 3)³⁹. In addition, the superficial regions have been reported to host progenitor cells, which have been suggested to play a role in the meniscus' response to injury⁴¹. The meniscus also contains less cells than articular cartilage, where the cell density is approximately 14 000

cells/mm^{3 42}. The cell density of the meniscus is approximately $200 - 2\ 800\ cells/mm^3$, depending on the zone, where the peripheral zone is suggested to have the highest density⁴³.

Meniscus extracellular matrix

Just like articular cartilage, the meniscus primarily consists of dense ECM, where the main components are water and collagens, together with lower levels of proteoglycans, glycoproteins and non-collagenous proteins²³.

In a healthy meniscus, water constitutes 65-70% of the tissue's weight, and the posterior horn appears to contain slightly more water^{44,45}. Most of the water is bound to the proteoglycans of the meniscus²³. Proteoglycans are large, negatively charged, hydrophilic and heavily glycosylated proteins that consist of a core protein with one or more glycosaminoglycan (GAG) chains attached^{46,47}. By binding water, proteoglycans support the meniscus under compression and greatly contribute to the viscoelastic properties of the meniscus⁴⁸. Proteoglycans are much more prominent in articular cartilage than meniscal tissue, and contribute to approximately 1-2% of the dry weight of menisci^{23,49}. Some of the major proteoglycans in the meniscus are aggrecan, biglycan and decorin^{28,50}, while the main GAG chains of meniscal tissue are chondroitin-6-sulphate and chondroitin-4-sulphate, and to a smaller extent, chondroitin and dermatan sulphate⁴⁹.

Collagens make up around 20% of the meniscus tissue. In contrast to articular cartilage, where type II collagen is the predominant collagen, the most common collagen in meniscus is type I collagen, particularly in the peripheral and middle zones^{27,33}. However, in the inner zone of the meniscus, type II collagen is more common than type I collagen⁵¹.

Collagens contribute to the meniscus' ability to withstand load, by being responsible for the tissue's tensile strength. The majority of the type I collagen fibers in the deeper zones are circumferentially oriented, parallel to the peripheral border (Fig. 4). They combine with the meniscotibial ligaments to attach the meniscal horns to the tibia, which during weightbearing produces axial forces across the knee that in turn compress the menisci, resulting in distributed circumferential stresses (or hoop stresses)^{23,26}. The circumferential collagen fibers are interweaved with radially oriented "tie" fibers, which further contribute to the meniscus' load bearing functions⁵². There are also radially oriented collagen fibers in the superficial zones of the meniscus²⁷.



Figure 4.

Drawing of collagen organisation in the meniscus, based on scanning electron microscopy. (1) The superficial network: a meshwork of thin fibrils covering the surfaces of the meniscus. (2) Lamellar layer: a layer of lamellae of collagen fibrils. In the area of the external circumference of the anterior and posterior horns, the bundles of collagen fibrils are arranged in a radial direction. In all other parts of this layer, the collagen fibril bundles intersect at various angles. (3) Central main layer: the layer where the majority of the collagen fibrils of the meniscus are located. The collagen fibrils are circularly oriented, and occasionally interwoven with radial collagen fibrils (arrowheads). In the peripheral border of the meniscus, loose connective tissue radially penetrates the circular fibril bundles from the joint capsule (arrow). Reproduced with permission from Petersen and Tillmann, Anat Embryol, 1988⁵³.

Other groups of matrix proteins found in the ECM of human menisci are noncollagenous proteins and glycoproteins, such as the two adhesive glycoproteins fibronectin and thrombospondin, which are both essential for cell-matrix connections, through interactions with integrins and other receptors^{54–57}. Other non-collagenous proteins found in the meniscus ECM are the matrilins, which are important for matrix assembly⁵⁸. Hyaluronan and proteoglycan link proteins (or link proteins), which stabilise proteoglycan aggregates with hyaluronic acid, have also been identified in human menisci^{59–62}.

Meniscus pathology

Meniscus pathology in the general public

Meniscal pathologies are very common, and the pathology that most people associate with the meniscus is a traumatic tear, usually in the context of a sports injury. This type of tear is most common among young, active individuals with previously healthy knees. During acute knee trauma, usually in combination with twisting of the knee, the meniscus comes under enormous pressure and force between the femoral condyle and tibial plateau, causing a longitudinal tear, where the meniscus ruptures vertically, and parallel to the circumferentially oriented collagen fibers⁶³. Less common is the radial tear where the meniscus ruptures perpendicular to the circumferential fibers⁶³.

Another type of tear is the degenerative tear, in which there are horizontal cleavage lesions or flap tears of the meniscus, usually in the body or posterior horn of the medial meniscus^{64,65}. These types of tears often develop over time, are more rarely associated with an acute knee trauma, and are commonly accompanied by a general destruction of the meniscus^{64–66}. Importantly, Englund *et al.* has reported that degenerative tears appear to be frequent in the general population (with or without symptoms), and increase with age, ranging from 19% among women 50 to 59 years of age to 56% among men 70 to 90 years of age⁶⁴. This shows a remarkably high incidence of meniscus tears in the general population, which could be considered as a normal part of ageing. The same study also showed that most of these tears do not directly cause knee symptoms, since 60% of the individuals with meniscal tears did not experience any pain, stiffness or aching of the knee⁶⁴.

As previously mentioned, the medial meniscus is more firmly attached in the joint, with attachments to both the tibia and joint capsule^{31,32}. This makes the medial meniscus less mobile than the lateral meniscus, which probably explains why the medial meniscus has been reported to be more prone to tears compared to the lateral meniscus⁶⁴.

However, it is not only the integrity of the meniscal tissue that is important; the position of the meniscus within the joint is also very important. It has been reported that meniscal tears are often accompanied by meniscal extrusion, which is when the meniscus is partially or totally displaced from the tibial articular cartilage, usually due to a disruption of the circumferential collagen fibers^{67,68}.

Meniscectomy and knee OA

Meniscectomy is a surgery in which the whole (total) or the injured part (partial) of the meniscus is removed. Total meniscectomy was first described by Sir Thomas Annandale in 1885⁶⁹, and four years later Annandale published another report in which he, encouraged by the positive results and good recovery made by the patients, advocated for complete removal of a damaged meniscus, instead of repair⁷⁰. This strategy continued to be the preferred strategy for a very long time, until several studies were published from the 1960s to the 1980s, which reported high incidences of knee symptoms and reduced function of the knee joint, in addition to a high incidence of late degenerative changes and radiographic knee OA, among patients who had undergone a total meniscectomy^{71–75}.

Today, it is known that the meniscus is important for a functional knee⁷⁶. Therefore, partial meniscectomy using arthroscopy, first described in the 1960s, is now the preferred type of meniscectomy for symptomatic meniscal injuries. It has also been shown to be superior to total meniscectomy, enabling faster recovery and return to sports, for example^{77,78}. However, studies have also shown that the long-term effects of

partial meniscectomy are similar to those of total meniscectomy^{79–84}. Furthermore, even though many patients experience an improvement after a meniscectomy, it is not clear if it is the procedure itself that is responsible for the effect. Indeed, several randomised clinical trials have reported no additional benefit of arthroscopic meniscectomy compared to sham-surgery or only physical therapy in patients with a meniscal tear, both with and without OA^{85–87}. In the case of sham-surgery, the improvement was sustained even two years after surgery⁸⁸.

Meniscal pathology and OA

It has been suggested that the biomechanics of the knee play an important role in the development of knee OA, i.e. factors leading to increased biomechanical loading in the joint lead to a pathological response of the joint tissues⁸⁹. There are multiple risk factors for overloading of the knee, including obesity, occupational hazards such as kneeling, knee malalignment, and knee trauma, all of which could lead to meniscal damage or extrusion^{90,91}. Other factors, such as ageing, can also cause meniscal damage and degradation of the meniscal ECM^{64,92}, and hence loss of meniscal function. Since the meniscus has a critical function in the knee to maintain normal biomechanics, loss of its function, either due to damage or resection, can increase the load on other structures of the knee²⁶. Thus, meniscal damage can consequently result in loss of articular cartilage^{93,94}, changes of the trabecular bone^{95,96}, increased mineral bone density^{97,98}, and development of subchondral bone marrow lesions⁹⁹. These changes further increase the malalignment of the joint and alter its loading, which can lead to even more degeneration and pathological changes in the joint, and by definition OA. This has been referred to as the "meniscal pathway" to OA, proposed by Englund et al. in 2012 (Fig. 5)¹⁵. Moreover, in the same way that a damaged or injured meniscus can lead to altered biomechanics in the joint, which in turn can result in the degenerative changes seen in OA, partial removal of the meniscus by meniscectomy has also been shown to increase the risk of OA^{100,101}.

There is further support for an important role of the meniscus in OA from several studies^{14,102–105}. One longitudinal study observed that meniscal damage and extrusion at baseline were more frequent in knees that developed radiographic OA compared to control knees¹⁰³. Chan *et al.* reported a high prevalence of meniscal degeneration in OA patients using MR imaging¹⁰². Another study found that the frequency of meniscal tears was higher in symptomatic OA patients compared to asymptomatic individuals¹⁰⁴. These results clearly indicate an association between the meniscus and OA, albeit a complex association. It appears as though a meniscal lesion can lead to the development of OA, but also that OA can cause meniscal damage, which can drive the disease further. More knowledge is therefore needed about the human meniscus in health and OA.



Figure 5.

The "meniscal" pathway to knee osteoarthritis. Loss of meniscal function leads to increased biomechanical stress within the joint, which results in further destruction of the joint through cartilage loss, changes in the subchondral bone, bone marrow lesions, and synovitis. These changes further increase biomechanical stress in the joint, eventually leading to pain and osteoarthritis. Reproduced and adjusted with permission from Englund *et al.*, *Nat Rev Rheumatol*, 2012¹⁵.

Proteomics

Proteomics is the large-scale study of proteomes, which are sets of proteins expressed in a certain organism or tissue at a certain time. The term proteome may refer to all proteins expressed in a species, e.g. humans, or in a specific organ, e.g. the heart. Proteomics allows us to study where and when proteins are expressed, their response to environmental stimuli, and differences in protein expression between biological systems, e.g. healthy and diseased¹⁰⁶. Since the proteome is dynamic and can change over time, it will reflect the current environment of a cell, organ or organism. Thus, proteomics may be regarded as taking a "snap-shot" of the protein expression in a particular biological system at a particular time point¹⁰⁷.

Protein expression ultimately decides the phenotype of a cell or tissue. Therefore, proteomic analysis is necessary to obtain a full picture of any biological state, complementary to studies of genes through e.g. genomics (all genes present in an organism or tissue) or transcriptomics (genes expressed in a given tissue or biological state). Only by studying the proteome is it possible to investigate the mechanisms of action, protein-protein interactions, and the functions, modifications and localisations of different proteins¹⁰⁷.

Techniques

There are several available methods that can be used to analyse the proteome. The most common ones are mass spectrometry (MS)-based techniques or gel-based techniques,

such as differential in-gel electrophoresis (DIGE). Sometimes, they are also used in combination^{107,108}.

Discovery-based MS

In this thesis, a label-free, discovery-based MS method was used in three of the studies. In the case of discovery-based MS, the term discovery refers to the fact that we are not targeting any specific proteins in the analysis. Instead, we try to identify as many proteins as possible. During the last decades, this has become one of the most powerful methods to analyse the proteome of complex samples, which has made it possible to identify several hundreds of proteins, even thousands, in a single analysis^{109,110}. It allows for comprehensive analyses of a wide variety of tissues, including cartilage tissues¹¹¹. The most common approach of performing discovery-based MS methods is called bottom-up, in which proteins are digested with trypsin into short peptides, which in turn are separated, usually by a method called liquid chromatography $(LC)^{112}$. Before the peptides enter the mass spectrometer, they need to be ionised, often done using electrospray ionisation, a method that was awarded the Nobel Prize in Chemistry in 2002^{113,114}. In the mass spectrometer, two MS measurements are then performed in tandem (Fig. 6). In the first step, called MS1, a mass analyser separates the so-called precursor ions by their mass-to-charge ratios (m/z) to determine what is to be fragmented. In tandem MS mode, the precursor ions are isolated to enter a collision cell, where they are fragmented (usually by collision with a gas), which results in product ions. The product ions in turn undergo another separation in the second mass analyser, called MS2, and are subsequently detected in order to generate a tandem mass spectrum (MS2 spectrum). These spectra, or patterns, are specific for each ion, and can together with its m/z value, be matched against in silico spectra in protein sequence databases in order to identify the peptides present in the sample¹¹². The identified peptides can then be mapped to proteins, and the signal intensities of either the precursor or product ions can be used to estimate relative changes in protein abundance across samples¹⁰⁹.



Figure 6. Schematic representation of tandem mass spectrometry.

Different modes of acquisition

Depending on the type of acquisition method that is used, either all or a selection of precursor ions will be isolated to undergo fragmentation. In data-dependent acquisition (DDA) mode (also known as shotgun proteomics), only a selection of precursor ions are chosen, based on predefined criteria, e.g. the top n most intense ions identified in MS1¹¹⁵. This is in contrast to data-independent acquisition (DIA) where all precursor ions within a certain mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) range (isolation windows) are selected for fragmentation and MS2^{109,116}. The size of the isolation windows in DIA can either be fixed, i.e. constantly the same size, usually around 20-25 Da in width, or variable, where the windows are more narrow in the centre of the mass range, where the density of the precursor ions tends to be the highest¹¹⁷. The resulting analysis generates very complex MS2 spectra composed of fragments from multiple precursors in each spectrum, in contrast to the more specific precursor selection achieved through narrow windows in DDA (usually around 1 Da wide). The complexity of the resulting DIA data puts higher demands on computerised data analysis, and several software solutions have therefore been developed. However, even though DIA has become increasingly utilised, DDA is still the preferred MS method in many proteomic studies.

Aims of the thesis

The overall aim of this thesis was to study the proteomic constitution and microstructure of the human meniscus in both healthy subjects and OA patients. More knowledge about the human meniscus and the processes that occur during degeneration is crucial in order to aid earlier diagnosis or identify potential therapeutic targets for OA.

The specific aims were:

Paper I: To detail the microstructural differences between osteoarthritic and normal human menisci using histopathological methods.

Paper II: To identify proteomic similarities and differences between normal human articular cartilage and menisci, as well as to compare two different types of mass spectrometry acquisition methods.

Paper III: To elucidate the proteomic composition of normal human menisci and potential regional differences using data-independent acquisition mass spectrometry.

Paper IV: To map proteomic differences between osteoarthritic and normal human menisci using data-independent acquisition mass spectrometry.

Material and Methods

Study designs

A summary of the study designs for each paper included in this thesis is presented in Table 2.

Table 2.

Overview of study designs and methodology in the papers included in this thesis.

	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III	Paper IV
Study design	Retrospective cohort study	Retrospective cohort study	Retrospective cohort study	Retrospective cohort study
Study population	Healthy donors and OA patients	Healthy donors	Healthy donors	Healthy donors and OA patients (same as paper I)
Gender distribution (% females)	50%	30%	50%	50%
Tissue	Meniscus	Meniscus and articular cartilage	Meniscus	Meniscus
Sample size (per group)	n = 10	n = 3	n = 10	n = 7 - 9
Laboratory method	Histopathology and µCT	DIA/DDA LC- MS/MS	DIA LC-MS/MS	DIA LC-MS/MS
Aim	Two comparisons: (1) Healthy vs OA (2) Medial vs lateral meniscus	Two comparisons: (1) DDA vs DIA (2) Meniscus vs articular cartilage	Regional comparisons	Two comparisons: (1) Healthy vs OA (2) Medial vs lateral meniscus

DIA=data-independent acquisition, DDA=data-dependent acquisition, LC-MS/MS=liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry, OA=osteoarthritis

Study populations

In **papers I**, **III** and **IV** of this thesis, tissue material was obtained from a local biobank (the MENIX biobank) at Skåne University Hospital in Lund, managed by our research group. This biobank includes samples from patients undergoing arthroscopic meniscectomy or TKR, at Trelleborg hospital in Trelleborg, Sweden. It also includes samples from deceased donors, either from the Tissue Bank (Vävnadsbanken) in Lund or from forensic medicine cases at Rättsmedicinalverket in Lund. **Paper II** also included deceased donors, but not from the MENIX biobank.

Meniscectomy and TKR patients

From the meniscectomy patients, who are primarily younger individuals with sports injuries, e.g. ruptured menisci or anterior/posterior cruciate ligaments (ACL/PCL), only smaller pieces of resected tissue are collected, as well as blood samples. There are also some samples from surgeries in middle-aged patients in whom meniscal tears were believed to cause mechanical symptoms or pain in the knee. In this thesis, however, only tissues collected from the TKR patients were used (**papers I** and **IV**). TKR patients contributing to the biobank are predominantly older, female individuals with OA, from whom entire menisci are collected. Additionally, blood, tibial and femoral plateaus, and synovial fluid are also collected from these patients. All obtained samples are frozen (at -80°C) within 2 hours after extraction. Informed consent is required before the surgery and all tissue collections are performed with ethical permission from the local ethics committee.

Furthermore, during TKR surgery, the surgeon is required to classify the knee joint articular cartilage of all patients according to the Outerbridge classification system (Table 1). In order to be classified as a medial compartment knee OA patient (which was the criterion to be included as an OA patient in our studies), the Outerbridge grade were required to be IV in the medial compartment, and 0 or I in the lateral compartment. In addition, the surgeons are also required to sketch the patients' menisci (on a standardised form). In order for the patient menisci to be included in our studies, these sketches needed to indicate that some of the posterior horns remained for both the medial and lateral compartments.

In papers I and IV, 50% of the included patients were females.

Deceased donors

The biobank also contains tissue from deceased donors, whose samples were used in **papers I, III** and **IV**. The following inclusion criteria were applied: over 18 years of age, having no known OA or rheumatoid arthritis (RA) diagnoses, and proof that the deceased person wished to donate their organs to medical research, or consent from a relative of the deceased for the same. In addition, the following exclusion criteria were also applied: no HIV or hepatitis infection or drug addiction. From the deceased donors, entire menisci, articular cartilage/bone plugs and synovial fluid are obtained within 48 hours post-mortem and frozen (at -80°C) within 2 hours after extraction. All collection is performed with ethical permission from the local ethics committee.

In **paper II** of this thesis, meniscus and articular cartilage from deceased donors were used, but not from the MENIX biobank. Instead, these tissues were collected at the University Hospital in Oslo, Norway, with similar inclusion and exclusion criteria as for the MENIX biobank. Collection procedures were approved by the local ethics committee in Oslo. From these donors, smaller full-depth articular cartilage pieces (approximately 1x1 cm) were taken from the medial tibial condyle. Full-depth meniscus pieces were taken from the central body of the medial meniscus, including all three zones (inner, middle and peripheral).

In **papers I**, **III** and **IV**, 50% of the included donors were females, while in **paper II** it was 30%.

Terminology

In **papers I** and **IV**, where medial and lateral menisci from both deceased donors and OA patients were included, a special terminology was applied. Medial and lateral menisci from deceased donors were referred to as medial^{ref} and lateral^{ref} menisci, respectively, and medial and lateral menisci from OA patients were referred to as medial^{OA} and lateral^{OA} menisci, respectively.

Proteomic analyses (papers II, III and IV)

Sample preparation

Before tissue dissection, the menisci were thawed and rinsed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The menisci were also visually inspected. The menisci from OA patients were required to have at least two thirds of the substance of the posterior horn remaining. It was not uncommon for the inner third to be missing, due to degeneration. Furthermore, the donor menisci were required to be macroscopically intact, but some minor calcifications were allowed. The tibial and femoral cartilage from the medial compartment of the same donors were also inspected and were required to be macroscopically intact.

An overview of the sample preparation process can be viewed in figure 7. In **paper III**, medial menisci from ten deceased donors were included, from which slices were cut from the mid portion of the meniscus body and further cut into three parts, corresponding to the three vascularisation zones of the meniscus; inner (avascular white-white zone), middle (slightly vascularised white-red zone) and peripheral (vascularised red-red zone). In **paper IV**, medial and lateral menisci from ten deceased donors and ten OA patients were included, from which plugs were punched from the middle part of the posterior horn of each meniscus. The top and bottom ends (1/4) of the plugs were cut off and only the middle parts of the plugs were used in this paper. Tissue pieces used in **paper II** were already dissected when sent to our group.

Tissue pieces to be analysed with MS (**papers II-IV**), were pulverised in liquid nitrogen using a pestle and mortal technique, after which proteins were extracted using a guanidine hydrochloride (GdnHCl) medium. GdnHCl is a chaotropic agent that denatures proteins by disrupting hydrogen bonds. Samples were subsequently reduced, alkylated (blocking disulphide bonds) and precipitated with ethanol to remove excess salts from the samples. Since a bottom-up MS technique was used in the proteomics papers, the proteins needed to be digested into peptides, which was performed using the protease trypsin. Just prior to the MS analysis, samples were filtered on centrifugal devices to remove GAG chains, after which samples were further cleaned and desalted on reversed-phase C18 columns (**paper III**) or solid phase extraction plates (**paper IV**). In **paper II**, instead of desalting on columns or plates, samples were desalted and fractionated into two fractions (eluted with 10% and 50% acetonitrile respectively) using a high pH reversed-phase peptide fractionation kit.

MS platforms

Two different mass spectrometry set-ups have been used in this thesis. In each case, the same LC system, an Easy nano-LC 1000 HPLC system was used, but, in combination with two different mass spectrometers – a Q-ExactiveTM (**paper II** and **III**) or a Q-ExactiveTM (**paper IV**, both from Thermo Fisher Scientific. The same types of pre-columns (C18, 3 µm particles, 75 µm inner diameter, and 2 cm long) and analytical columns (C18, 2 µm particles, 75 µm inner diameter, and 25 cm long) were used in all three papers. Ion transfer was performed under heat and high voltage. In **papers II** and **III** the temperature was 260°C and the voltage was +2000 V, while in **paper IV** they were 280°C and +1850V, respectively. The system was, in both set-ups, controlled by XcaliburTM Software (Thermo Fisher Scientific). In addition, in **paper IV**, we used a column heater (EASY-Spray source, Thermo Fisher Scientific), and nano-LC peptide separation was performed at 45°C to enable better reproducibility of retention times and for reduced back-pressure.



Figure 7.

Overview of sample preparation for proteomic analyses. In paper II, whole slices (II) from the body of medial menisci were used, in addition to articular cartilage samples (II). In paper III, slices from the body part of medial menisci were cut into three parts, corresponding to the three zones of the meniscus – the peripheral, middle and inner zones (III). In paper IV, tissue plugs from the posterior horn of lateral and medial menisci were used (IV). In all three papers, the tissue pieces were prepared in the same manner until the desatting step (please refer to "Sample preparation" in "Material and methods" for details). All samples were analysed with LC-MS/MS, but in different modes; DDA and DIA were used in papers II and IV (II, IV), whereas only DIA was used in paper III (III). *GAG* = Glycosaminoglycan, *ACN* = Acetonitrile, *LC-MS/MS* = Liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry, *DDA* = Data-dependent acquisition, *DIA* = Data-independent acquisition.
Discovery MS

In this thesis, only discovery MS was performed, but two different acquisition methods were applied; DDA and DIA. In **paper II**, a comparison of DDA and DIA was carried out in order to determine the method that yielded the best results for cartilaginous tissues. Subsequently, in **paper III** only DIA was used, and in **paper IV**, DIA was the main acquisition method, but some samples were run with DDA in order to create a spectral library for data analysis. A summary of the various MS settings used in **papers II-IV** can be seen in Table 3.

Table 3.

	Settings	Paper II (DIA)	Paper II (DDA)	Paper III (DIA)	Paper IV (DIA)	Paper IV (DDA)
	Gradient length (min)	135	85/135*	125	125	125
	m/z range	390-1210	400-1200	390-1010	350-1650	375-1400
	Resolution	70,000	70,000	70,000	120,000	120,000
MS1	ACG	1x10 ⁶	1x10 ⁶	1x10 ⁶	3x10 ⁶	3x10 ⁶
	Maximum injection time (ms)	100	100	100	100	50
MS2	m/z range	400-1200	-	400-1200	350-1650	-
	Resolution	35,000	17,500	35,000	45,000	15,000
	ACG	1x10 ⁶	1x10 ⁶	1x10 ⁶	3x10 ⁶	1x10 ⁵
	Maximum injection time (ms)	120	60	120	Automatic	30
	DIA loop count	32	-	24	26	-
	DIA isolation window size (m/z)	26	-	26	Variable	-
	DIA isolation window overlap (Da)	0.5	-	0.5	1	-

*Four DDA runs were run with the same gradient as the DIA runs in order to create a spectral library. ACG=automatic gain control

MS data analysis

In paper II, the raw DDA data files were searched against a human Swiss-Prot database using Proteome Discoverer^{>14} 2.1 (Thermo Fisher Scientific). For each protein, peak intensities based on the average of their top 3 peptides, represented the abundance of the protein in the tissue extracts¹¹⁸. A spectral library was created in Proteome Discoverer using four DDA runs (which were run using the same gradient as the DIA runs) and subsequently imported into Skyline Daily (MacCoss Laboratories), where the DIA data were analysed and matched against the generated spectral library. Since the aim of this study was to compare the DDA and DIA protocols to select the best approach for further studies of cartilaginous samples, we chose to narrow down the number of proteins included in the comparison. Therefore, only a subset of the identified proteins was selected. This subset of proteins was based on three certain criteria: (1) proteins had to have at least two unique peptides per protein, (2) proteins

had to be classified as an ECM protein and (3) proteins had to be identified in both tissue types. Manual peak selection of the peptides was performed in Skyline and based on this selection of proteins. The proteins and peptides remaining after peak selection (n=103) were the basis of the statistical analysis, where only MS1 data was included. In order to receive peak area values from the DIA analysis that were comparable to those from the DDA analysis, a manual approach, similar to that performed in Proteome Discoverer, was performed on the DIA data. All peak area intensity values for each precursor ion were summed up, resulting in one peak area value for each protein in each fraction. In order to get one peak area value for each sample, values from the two fractions from each sample were added together, and this value was used for further analysis. Only proteins with quantitative information in all donors from both tissues (n=90 proteins) were included in the statistical analysis.

In papers III and IV, the data analysis was performed in SpectronautTM Pulsar (Biognosys AG, Switzerland). In paper III, the same human protein database from Swiss-Prot was used as the background proteome, and a library-free workflow called directDIATM was implemented. In paper IV, a more updated version of the human Swiss-Prot database was applied, and the DIA data were searched against a spectral library based on all the DIA runs as well as 14 DDA runs. In both papers, the top 3 peptides for each protein were averaged to calculate protein abundance, and only proteotypic peptides were used¹¹⁹. Proteotypic peptides are peptides that are solely found in one single known protein and therefore uniquely represent that protein¹¹⁹. Precursor quantitation was performed at the MS2 level, and area under the curve was used as quantitation type.

Microstructural analyses (paper I)

Sample preparation for microstructural analyses

Papers I and **IV** used the same menisci for their respective analyses, and hence the same visual inspection of the menisci applied to both studies. After the plug was punched out from the posterior horn (for analysis in **paper IV**), the remaining part of the posterior horn, in addition to a small portion of the body, was cut off and fixed in 4% saline-buffered formaldehyde. These samples were then sent to collaborators at the University of Oulu, Finland, for histopathology and *ex vivo* micro-computed tomography (μ CT), reported in **paper I**.

Preparation for µCT

A slice from the body part of the meniscus was cut (Fig. 8 A) and prepared for μ CT by being dehydrated in ethanol, then treated with hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS) and air-

dried. These steps were performed according to a recently published protocol by Kestilä *et al.*¹²⁰.

Preparation for histopathology

From the remaining pieces after excision of the μ CT section, slices were obtained for histopathological analyses. Prior to slicing, the fixed samples were further dehydrated with alcohol, cleared with xylene, and embedded in paraffin. Vertical, wedge-shaped slices were cut from three different locations, perpendicular to the circumferentially oriented collagen bundles. The remaining paraffin blocks were melted, and the tissues were reoriented and re-embedded in paraffin, followed by the cutting of horizontal slices (from the inner to the peripheral zone, at an approximately 30° angle to the tibial plateau) from two different locations (Fig. 8 B and C).



Figure 8.

An overview of the sample preparation for the microstructural analyses. A) A schematic illustration of dissection of the meniscus posterior horn. B) The locations from where the vertical (1, 2, 3) and horizontal (H1 and H2) slices were taken for histopathological analysis, as well as from where the μ CT piece was cut from the meniscus posterior horn. The tissue extracted from the hole in the posterior horn (adjacent to slice 1) was reserved for paper IV in this thesis. C: A schematic illustration of the plane from which the horizontal histological slices (H1 and H2) were taken. Reproduced with permission from Kestilä *et al.*, Osteoarthritis Cartilage, 2019¹²¹.

Histopathology

All slices were stained with haematoxylin and eosin (HE), and Safranin-O–Fast Green (SafO–FG), and subsequently imaged with a digital pathology slide scanner. HE staining is one of the most common types of staining for cells and tissues¹²². Haematoxylin stains nucleic acids with a blue-purple colour, while eosin stains proteins pink in a non-specific manner¹²². Typically, a tissue stained with HE will have blue nuclei and pink cytoplasm and ECM. Safranin-O is a cationic dye that stains proteoglycans and GAG chains in a dark pinkish-red colour¹²³.

Sample processing, staining, and scoring were performed according to Pauli *et al.*⁹² with some minor modifications. The following features were scored: (1) tissue surface characteristics (smooth, or degree of fibrillation, clefts or undulation) of the tibial, femoral and outer borders, (2) cellularity (normal, hypercellular, hypocellular, and acellular regions), (3) matrix and collagen organisation (degeneration, calcification, cyst formation, oedema, fraying and tears) and (4) SafO-FG staining intensity of the matrix. Each feature was individually scored (referred to as a sub-score) and added up to a total score. The scoring was first performed independently by two blinded graders, after which consensus scoring was done for each sub-score, from which an overall consensus score was calculated for each meniscus section. Each total consensus score was translated into a grade from 1 to 4, which represented different degrees of degeneration (Table 4).

Total score	Grade	Phenotype	
0-4	1	Normal tissue	
5-9	2	Mild degeneration	
10-14	3	Moderate degeneration	
15-18	4	Severe degeneration	

Table 4.

The scoring system used in paper 1, based on Pauli et al.⁹².

Ex vivo micro-computed tomography (µCT)

Image acquisition was performed using a SkyScan desktop μ CT from Bruker. The following settings were applied: tube voltage of 40 kV, tube current of 250 μ A, no additional filtering, isotropic voxel size of 2.0 μ m, number of projections – 2400, averaging 5 frames/projection, and exposure time of 1815 ms. NRecon software (Bruker) was used for image reconstruction, during which beam-hardening and ring-artefact corrections were applied. Image rendering was performed with CTVox software provided by the manufacturer.

Statistical analyses

In **paper I**, the statistical analyses consisted of descriptive statistics of the histopathological scores, as well as linear regression models where the histopathology scores for each meniscus section were treated as a continuous variable. All analyses were first unadjusted, then adjusted for age, and finally adjusted for age and body mass index (BMI). For comparisons between the groups (medial^{ref}, lateral^{ref}, medial^{OA} and lateral^{OA}), a mixed linear regression model was used with the histopathology score as outcome. The Satterwhite method was used for estimation of degrees of freedom and the *lincom* command in Stata was used to derive the comparisons of interest from the linear model. The mean difference between the four groups was calculated with 95% confidence intervals (CI). Stata (Release 15, StataCorp) was used for all statistical analyses.

In **paper II**, the data were analysed using a linear mixed-effect model fitted through restricted maximum likelihood using the ANOVA method for computing degrees of freedom. The tissue donor was included as a random effect and the tissue (meniscus or articular cartilage) was included as a fixed effect. The data were log₂-transformed before the analysis. To mimic a typical analysis of data in proteome studies, we also performed an analysis with a control of the false discovery rate (FDR), using the method of Benjamini and Hochberg¹²⁴. We considered proteins with a two-tailed p-value less or equal to 0.05 to be differentially expressed. Stata (Release 14, StataCorp) was used for all statistical analyses.

In **paper III**, only proteins with a maximum of 10% missing values per condition were included in the statistical analysis, i.e. one missing value per zone (peripheral, middle or inner) was allowed among the ten donor samples analysed for each zone. This resulted in a maximum of three missing values per protein in the whole data set (i.e. from all ten donors, for all three zones). Protein intensity was transformed using logarithm with base 2. Using the *limma* (Bioconductor) package in R (https://www.R-project.org), a series of fixed effects linear regression models were fitted to estimate the differences between the zones. The 99% CIs were estimated, consistent with the applied FDR control procedure as described by Benjamini and Yekutieli¹²⁵.

In **paper IV**, only proteins with a maximum of one missing value per group (i.e. medial^{ref}, lateral^{ref}, medial^{OA} and lateral^{OA}) were included. This resulted in a maximum of four missing values per protein in the whole dataset (i.e. from all four groups). All protein intensities were transformed using log function with base 2 before the analysis. A linear mixed effects model was applied, with transformed intensities as outcome, and group, protein type and their interaction as independent variables. Subject identifier was included as a random effect to account for correlation between measurements from the same individual. Furthermore, the model was adjusted for age and BMI. All statistical analyses were performed in Stata (Release 15, StataCorp).

Additionally, in **papers III** and **IV**, functional enrichment and protein network analyses were performed, in order to investigate the biological relevance of the results. In **paper III**, this was performed by searching the data in the publicly available STRING database, version 11.0¹²⁶, where a protein network analysis was performed in order to investigate the overrepresentation of protein-protein interactions (PPI) in our data. Additionally, functional enrichment analysis was also performed in order to determine if any gene ontology (GO) terms were overrepresented in the network. In **paper IV**, this analysis was performed in Ingenuity[®] Pathway Analysis (IPA[®], QIAGEN Bioinformatics, Fall release, 2019). The proteins were mapped and compared to known pathways, diseases, functions, and connecting regulators. A z-score for each pathway was calculated as a statistical measure of the match between the expected direction of the relationship and the observed protein expression, and was used to determine how strong the overrepresentation was; positive for regulators with activating capacity and negative for those with inhibitory capacity. It was also investigated whether any protein networks were overrepresented in our data.

Results

Paper I

Higher histopathological scores are associated with more degeneration

When comparing meniscus slices of a higher histopathological grade with those of a lower histopathological grade, by studying virtual light microscopy images, it appears that the higher grades are associated with more degeneration of the meniscus borders, i.e. the tibial and femoral surfaces of the meniscus as well as the outer border, together with more intense SafO-FG staining and disorganised collagen networks (Fig. 9).



Figure 9.

Representative histological images from SafO–FG and HE-stained vertical and horizontal meniscal slices for Pauli's meniscus histopathological grades 1-4⁹². Slices were imaged with a digital pathology slide scanner. Reproduced with permission from Kestilä *et al.*, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*, 2019¹²¹.

Several structural features were visible in both the three-dimensional (3D) μ CT and histological images, including surface integrity and collagen network organisation. Both these structural elements appeared to show similar results in the μ CT analysis and the histology analysis, with greater surface degeneration and more collagen disorganisation in menisci with higher histopathological grades compared to those with lower grades (Fig. 10). Furthermore, the μ CT analysis also showed calcifications (predominately in the menisci with higher histopathological grades) and the channel-like structures that were observed to penetrate the meniscus from its outer border (predominately in the menisci with lower histopathological grades) (Fig. 10).



Figure 10.



Medial^{OA} menisci had the highest degree of degeneration

Of all groups, medial^{OA} menisci had the highest total histopathological consensus scores, while the medial^{ref}, lateral^{ref} and lateral^{OA} menisci had similar scores. After adjusting for age, and for age and BMI, the medial^{OA} menisci had a 3.9 points higher total score (95% CI 2.6, 5.3) compared to the medial^{ref} menisci. Medial^{OA} menisci also had higher scores than lateral^{OA} menisci (3.9 [2.8, 5.0]). No such differences could be observed between the lateral^{OA} and lateral^{ref} menisci (0.8 [-0.6, 2.2]), or between the medial^{ref} and lateral^{ref} menisci (0.8 [-0.3, 1.9]) (Fig. 11 A).

The degree of degeneration differs between the different sections of the meniscus

The medial^{OA} menisci were found to have higher histopathological scores in all three sections compared to the medial^{ref} menisci. The medial^{OA} menisci also had higher total scores in sections 2 and 3 compared to the lateral^{OA} menisci (Fig. 11 B). While the largest difference in total score was observed between these two groups in section 3 (closest to the body region, 5.5 [3.8, 7.2]), the smallest difference was observed in section 1 (closest to the posterior horn) with a difference of 1.7 (-0.04, 3.4) (Fig. 11 B). Although, the medial^{ref}, lateral^{ref} and lateral^{OA} menisci had similar scores overall, in section 1, the lateral^{OA} menisci had higher scores than the lateral^{ref} menisci (3.7 [1.8, 5.7]) and the medial^{ref} had higher scores than the lateral^{ref} menisci (2.1 [0.4, 3.8]).



Figure 11.

Comparisons of the posterior horns from medial and lateral reference menisci with posterior horns of medial and lateral menisci from patients with medial compartment knee OA, where (A) shows the mean difference in total histopathological scores (Pauli) with 95% confidence intervals, and (B) shows the mean difference in total histopathological (Pauli) scores displayed with 95% confidence intervals in three different sections† (referring to histological slices 1,2 and 3 from the meniscus). The model was adjusted for age, and then for age and BMI. *This comparison was performed between medial and lateral menisci from the same knee, and thus adjusted for all person- and knee level confounding through use of a fixed effects model. Reproduced and adjusted with permission from Kestilä *et al.*, Osteoarthritis Cartilage, 2019¹²¹.

Paper II

The majority of proteins are similar between articular cartilage and meniscus

A total of 673 proteins were identified in the DDA analysis. Out of these, 358 proteins had at least two unique peptides and could be identified in at least three of the samples, and were used for further analysis. Among these, the majority of proteins (n=307) were common between meniscus and articular cartilage, while 40 proteins were unique to the meniscus, and 11 proteins were unique to the articular cartilage (Fig. 12). The majority of the ECM proteins included in the statistical analysis also had similar abundance in meniscus and articular cartilage, both in the DDA and DIA analyses (Fig. 13 A). Among the proteins with higher levels in articular cartilage, membrane-associated phospholipase A and lysozyme C yielded the largest differences in the DIA analysis and DDA analysis, respectively. Among the proteins with higher levels in meniscus, dermatopontin showed the largest difference in both analyses (Fig. 13 B, Table 5). Aggrecan was the protein with the highest intensity in articular cartilage, whereas it was serum albumin in the meniscus.



Figure 12.

Venn diagram displaying the distribution of proteins in the meniscus and articular cartilage. Only proteins that had at least two unique peptides and could be identified in at least three of the samples were included in the figure. The majority of proteins were common between the two tissues. The corresponding numbers for proteins classified as extracellular are shown in brackets. Reproduced with permission from Folkesson et al., *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, 2018¹²⁷.

DIA exhibits more differentially expressed proteins and narrower confidence intervals than DDA

21 proteins were differentially expressed between articular cartilage and the meniscus in the DIA analysis, and 19 remained different after FDR control (Fig. 13 B, Table 5). However, in the DDA analysis, only 11 proteins were differentially expressed, and only four of these remained after FDR control (Fig. 13 B). On average, the ratios of protein abundance between articular cartilage and the meniscus were similar even if numerical differences were found. In addition, the DDA approach appeared to yield higher estimated intensity values than DIA.



Figure 13.

Intensity differences on a log₂ scale, displayed with 95% confidence intervals, between meniscus and articular cartilage in DDA and DIA, for (*A*) all 90 proteins included in the statistical analysis and (*B*) for the proteins that were statistically significantly different in at least one of the methods. Reproduced with permission from Folkesson et al., *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, 2018¹²⁷.

Table 5.

Proteins that were differentially expressed in at least one of the methods (DDA or DIA), displayed with meniscus (M) vs articular cartilage (C) ratios together with 95% confidence intervals. Repoduced with permission from Folkesson *et al.*, *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, 2018¹²⁷.

Protein		DIA		DDA	
Protein name	Entry name	M vs C Ratio	95% CI	M vs C Ratio	95% CI
Phospholipase A2, membrane associated	PA2GA	0.02	0.008, 0.07	0.05	0.002, 1.08
Lysozyme C	LYSC	0.03	0.02, 0.08	0.03	0.02, 0.05
Link protein 1	HPLN1	0.03	0.02, 0.08	0.07	0.02, 0.23
C-type lectin domain family 3 member A	CLC3A	0.06	0.02, 0.14	-	-
Aggrecan core protein	PGCA	0.07	0.04, 0.10	0.11	0.06, 0.21
Angiogenin	ANGI	0.08	0.03, 0.19	0.12	0.03, 0.57
Osteoadherin	OMD	0.12	0.06, 0.24	0.81	0.01, 53.12
Cadherin-1	CADH1	0.14	0.10, 0.20	-	-
Galectin-3	LEG3	0.17	0.09, 0.34	-	-
Retinoic acid receptor responder protein 2	RARR2	0.24	0.16, 0.35	0.14	0.002, 8.30
Ribonuclease pancreatic	RNAS1	0.31	0.23, 0.42	-	-
Immunoglobulin heavy constant gamma 1	IGHG1	1.90	1.59 2.27	1.67	0.22, 12.63
Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase A	ALDOA	2.31	1.77, 3.01	2.87	1.27, 6.50
Antithrombin-III	ANT3	3.52	2.10, 5.92	5.07	2.45, 10.48
Alpha-1-antitrypsin	A1AT	4.37	2.76, 6.93	5.66	2.91, 11.01
Myocilin	MYOC	4.40	2.92, 6.65	-	-
Transforming growth factor-beta-induced protein ig-h3	BGH3	5.32	3.75, 7.54	4.43	3.29, 5.97
Versican core protein	CSPG2	6.64	3.02, 14.57	4.71	1.16, 19.16
Alpha-1-acid glycoprotein 2	A1AG2	6.83	4.39, 10.64	-	-
Asporin	ASPN	9.40	3.32, 26.63	10.79	7.39, 15.777
Dermatopontin	DERM	14.97	3.34, 66.99	29.25	16.356, 52.28

Statistically significant ratios (p-value ≤ 0.05) are marked in **bold**.

Paper III

The largest zonal differences in human menisci can be found between the peripheral and inner zones

A total of 638 proteins were identified in the MS analysis of all three meniscal zones. Out of the 405 proteins included in the statistical analysis, 170 proteins differed in at least one of the comparisons between the zones. Among these, 163 differed between the peripheral and inner zones (Fig. 14), of which 129 proteins had a higher intensity in the peripheral zone, and 34 proteins had a higher intensity in the inner zone. Myocilin was the protein with the highest fold-change overall, with a fold-change between the peripheral and inner zones of 42.2 (95%CI 16.0, 119.4).



Figure 14.

Visualisation of all differentially expressed proteins between the peripheral and inner zone (y-axis). Log₂-transformed fold-changes are displayed as point estimates, with 99% confidence intervals as error bars (x-axis). The colour of the point estimates and error bars represents the log₂ fold-change, according to the scale bar on the right.

136 proteins had different abundances between the middle and peripheral zones. Of these, 101 had a higher expression in the peripheral zone, and 35 had a higher expression in the middle zone. Only 8 proteins were differentially expressed between the middle and inner zones, of which 7 had a higher expression in the inner zone.

PRELP is one of the most abundant proteins in human menisci

The small leucine-rich proteoglycan (SLRP) PRELP had the highest abundance values among the proteins in the middle and peripheral zones in this analysis, while 2oxoglutarate dehydrogenase, mitochondrial, had the highest abundance values in the inner zone. Many proteins were common to all zones, and among the top 20 proteins in each of the three zones, 15 were the same, although in varying orders of abundance in the different zones.

The majority of meniscal proteins are associated with ECM organisation

The functional enrichment analysis of all identified proteins, in all zones, in this study showed ECM organisation and exocytosis as enriched biological processes (Table 6). Indeed, the proteins upregulated in the inner zone compared to the peripheral zone were mainly collagens or proteins related to collagens, and therefore involved in ECM organisation (Table 7). Conversely, the majority of proteins upregulated in the peripheral zone were intracellular proteins present in the cytosol (Table 8).

Table 6.

Top 5 enriched biological process and cellular component GO terms in all identified proteins in the study, based on the STRING search, together with FDR-adjusted p-values.

GO term	Biological process	Count in data set	Adjusted p-value
GO:0043062	Extracellular structure organisation	95 of 339	1.39 x 10 ⁻⁵¹
GO:0030198	Extracellular matrix organisation	83 of 296	8.16 x 10 ⁻⁴⁵
GO:0045055	Regulated exocytosis	102 of 691	4.90 x 10 ⁻³⁴
GO:0006887	Exocytosis	103 of 774	4.80 x 10 ⁻³¹
GO:0032940	Secretion by cell	114 of 959	8.75 x 10 ⁻³¹
GO term	Cellular component	Count in data set	Adjusted p-value
GO:0005576	Extracellular region	310 of 2505	1.15 x 10 ⁻¹⁰⁸
GO:0044421	Extracellular region part	208 of 1375	7.41 x 10 ⁻⁸⁰
GO:0031012	Extracellular matrix	89 of 283	6.46 x 10 ⁻⁵³
GO:0005615	Extracellular space	155 of 1134	8.26 x 10 ⁻⁵²
GO:0060205	Cytoplasmic vesicle lumen	87 of 340	9.73 x 10 ⁻⁴⁶

Table 7.

Top 5 enriched biological process and cellular component GO terms in proteins more abundant in the inner zone compared to the peripheral zone, based on the STRING search, together with FDR-adjusted p-values.

GO term	Biological process	Count in data set	Adjusted p-value
GO:0030198	Extracellular matrix organisation	13 of 296	2.50 x 10 ⁻¹³
GO:0030199	Collagen fibril organisation	8 of 39	1.00 x 10 ⁻¹²
GO:0071230	Cellular response to amino acid stimulus	5 of 60	1.05 x 10 ⁻⁵
GO:0009887	Animal organ morphogenesis	10 of 865	5.35 x 10⁻⁵
GO:0001501	Skeletal system development	8 of 457	5.35 x 10⁻⁵
GO term	Cellular component	Count in data set	Adjusted p-value
GO:0005581	Collagen trimer	19 of 88	1.29 x 10 ⁻³⁴
GO:0098644	Complex of collagen trimers	10 of 19	1.70 x 10 ⁻²⁰
GO:0005788	Endoplasmic reticulum lumen	16 of 299	7.09 x 10 ⁻²⁰
GO:0005583	Fibrillar collagen trimer	9 of 11	7.09 x 10 ⁻²⁰
GO:0044420	Extracellular matrix component	11 of 59	6.04 x 10 ⁻¹⁹

Table 8.

Top 5 enriched biological process and cellular component GO terms in proteins more abundant in the peripheral zone compared to the inner zone, based on the STRING search, together with FDR-adjusted p-values.

GO term	Biological process	Count in data set	Adjusted p-value
GO:0071840	Cellular component organisation or biogenesis	83 of 5342	8.22 x 10 ⁻¹⁵
GO:0016043	Cellular component organisation	78 of 5163	8.95 x 10 ⁻¹³
GO:0048519	Negative regulation of biological process	73 of 4953	6.04 x 10 ⁻¹¹
GO:0006614	SRP-dependent co-translational protein targeting to membrane	13 of 92	1.43 x 10 ⁻¹⁰
GO:0070972	Protein localization to endoplasmic reticulum	14 of 123	1.94 x 10 ⁻¹⁰
GO term	Cellular component	Count in data set	Adjusted p-value
GO:0044444	Cytoplasmic part	109 of 9377	3.10 x 10 ⁻¹⁵
GO:0005829	Cytosol	76 of 4958	2.12 x 10 ⁻¹³
GO:0042470	Melanosome	15 of 105	2.99 x 10 ⁻¹³
GO:0005737	Cytoplasm	113 of 11238	9.74 x 10 ⁻¹²
GO:0043209	Myelin sheath	15 of 157	3.31 x 10-11

Paper IV

There are larger differences between medial menisci from reference subjects and OA patients, compared to medial and lateral menisci from the same individuals

In this study, we identified a total of 835 proteins, of which 331 had a maximum of one missing value per sample group and were therefore included in the statistical analysis. The biggest differences in protein intensities were found between the medial^{OA} and medial^{ref} menisci, with a majority of proteins showing a higher mean log₂ intensity in the medial^{OA} menisci (Fig. 15). One of these proteins was haemoglobin subunit alpha (HBA), with a fold-change of 25.63 (with 95% CI 10.27, 64.0). In contrast, very few

differences were found between the lateral^{ref} and lateral^{OA} menisci. Myocilin was one of the few proteins that showed a difference in this comparison, with a fold-change of 0.23 (0.09, 0.61). In within-person comparisons of lateral and medial menisci from the same knees, lateral^{REF} menisci generally had higher log₂ protein intensities than medial^{ref} menisci, whereas most proteins had similar intensities in lateral^{OA} and medial^{OA} menisci.

The proteoglycan content is increased in menisci from OA patients

Several proteoglycans were identified in this study, including several major SLRPs, such as asporin and lumican, and other proteoglycans, such as aggrecan and versican. The majority of the identified proteoglycans had higher intensities in the medial^{OA} menisci compared to medial^{ref} menisci. These differences could not be seen between lateral^{OA} and lateral^{ref} menisci, and they were not as prominent between lateral^{OA} and medial^{OA} menisci. Three proteoglycans – chondroadherin, versican and perlecan – exhibited higher intensities in the lateral^{ref} and medial^{ref} menisci.

Several canonical pathways are increased in menisci from OA patients

In this study, several canonical pathways were found to be increased in medial^{OA} menisci compared to medial^{ref} menisci (Fig. 16 A). LXR/RXR (liver X receptor/retinoid X receptor) activation had the highest z-score among these pathways (z-score 2.83). RhoGDI (Rho-GDP dissociation inhibitor) signalling was the only pathway that was decreased in the medial^{OA} menisci (z-score -2.45). One of the other major protein networks found among the proteins that differed between medial^{OA} and medial^{ref} menisci was a network of proteins associated with connective tissue disorders, organismal injury and abnormalities, and tissue development, including proteins such as matrix metalloprotease 3 (MMP3), versican and several collagens (Fig. 16 B).



Difference in mean log, intensity between medial $^{\mbox{\scriptsize OA}}$ vs medial $^{\mbox{\scriptsize ref}}$ menisci

Figure 15.

Visual representation of differentially expressed proteins (y-axis) in medial^{OA} vs medial^{REF} menisci. Log₂-transformed mean intensity differences are displayed as point estimates with 95% confidence intervals as error bars (x-axis). The colour of the point estimates and error bars represents the difference in log₂ mean intensity between the groups, according to the scale bar on the right.

Pathways



Figure 16.

Results from the pathway analysis of the proteins differing between the medial^{OA} and medial^{REF} menisci, which was performed in IPA[®]. (*A*) Bar plot displaying the most increased or decreased pathways mapped to the proteins. The z-score is a statistical measure of the match between the expected direction of the relationship and the observed protein expression, and a higher z-score corresponds to a stronger overrepresentation of a given pathway. The colour of the bars represents the number of proteins that could be mapped to that specific pathway. (*B*) One of the most prominent networks mapped to the differing proteins was a network of proteins associated with connective tissue disorders, organismal injury and abnormalities, and tissue development.

Discussion

The main focus of this thesis was to increase our knowledge about the meniscus, both in health and in OA. The first part of this thesis was about the three-dimensional microstructure of human menisci, where we could observe large differences in microstructure between menisci from deceased donors and OA patients. The second, and major part of the thesis, was about proteomic analyses of human menisci, where we compared the proteome of reference menisci with human articular cartilage, investigated zonal differences in reference menisci and compared the proteome between menisci from deceased donors and OA patients.

Despite proteomic similarities between articular cartilage and meniscus, there are significant differences

As expected, the majority of the identified proteins in **paper II** were common between articular cartilage and the meniscus. Only 14% of the proteins were unique to either of the tissues. In spite of this, there were some key proteomic differences, which could be attributed to differences in biology, such as the differences in vascularisation. Moreover, several proteins were found to differ between the tissues, e.g. asporin and versican, of which both were more abundant in the meniscus samples. Versican was first described as a fibroblast proteoglycan¹²⁸, and versican mRNA levels have previously been reported to be higher in fibroblasts compared to chondrocytes¹²⁹. Therefore, the higher of levels of versican in the meniscus could be explained by the presence of both chondrocyte-like and fibroblast-like cells in the meniscal tissue³⁹. However, the exact function of versican in the meniscus is still not clear.

Aggrecan was the most abundant proteoglycan in the cartilage samples, and indeed also the most abundant protein overall in that tissue. This is not surprising since aggrecan is the major proteoglycan of articular cartilage^{58,61}. It was also approximately ten times more abundant in articular cartilage than in the meniscus, which is consistent with previous studies, and could be due to differences in proteoglycan synthesis between the different cell types of articular cartilage and the meniscus^{111,130,131}.

The protein with the largest differential expression between the meniscus and articular cartilage was dermatopontin, with a higher intensity in the meniscus. Dermatopontin is an ECM protein previously associated with promotion of cell attachment and spreading of dermal fibroblasts¹³². The presence of fibroblast-like cells in the outer

regions of menisci could explain the increased intensity of dermatopontin in our meniscus samples $^{40}\!\!.$

The lateral side of the knee does not appear to be as affected during medial compartment OA

The histological analyses of **paper I** showed that the medial^{OA} menisci had significantly higher histopathological scores compared to the lateral^{OA} and medial^{ref} menisci. It was also observed that the lateral^{OA} and lateral^{ref} menisci had similar scores. The same pattern could also be observed in the proteomics analysis of these meniscal samples in **paper IV**, where the largest differences were between the medial^{OA} and lateral^{ref} menisci. This suggests that the degenerative changes that occur in the posterior horn during medial compartment knee OA are indeed mainly localised to the medial side of the joint, and that the lateral side remains largely unaffected. Interestingly, another study from our group, where the same menisci were analysed with MRI, showed similar results¹³³. In this MRI study, it was suggested that the results potentially imply that the lateral meniscus could be considered as a within knee reference when studying medial compartment OA, since the comparison would eliminate differences between knees or individuals such as knee alignment, age, sex, BMI etc., that otherwise could influence the results¹³³.

The most posterior part of the posterior horn of the menisci is most prone to degeneration

The medial^{OA} menisci showed higher histopathological scores in all three sections of the posterior horn compared to the medial^{ref} menisci, and had higher scores than the lateral^{OA} menisci in sections 2 and 3. However, in section 1, which is the most posterior section of the posterior horn, the difference between medial^{OA} and lateral^{OA} menisci was smaller than in the other sections. Additionally, in this section, the histopathological scores were higher in the lateral^{OA} and medial^{ref} menisci compared to the lateral^{ref} menisci, and this section was also the one with the highest histopathological score among the lateral^{OA} menisci. This would indicate that even though the lateral menisci are not as degenerated in medial compartment knee OA, the posterior tip of the meniscus (both lateral and medial) is more prone to degenerate, and is perhaps where the degeneration initiates. This is supported by previous reports that have shown that degeneration is most commonly found in the posterior horn of both medial and lateral menisci, both among OA patients and the general population^{64,92,134}.

There are zonal differences in proteomic composition in menisci from healthy donors

Although many proteins could be identified in all three zones of the meniscus, we observed large differences in protein abundance between the zones. Some of these differences could be ascribed to differences in vascularisation between the zones, but there were also differences in proteoglycan expression. Two of the proteoglycans

identified in **paper III**, aggrecan and versican, were highly abundant in all zones, however only versican was differentially expressed, with a higher intensity in the peripheral zone compared to the inner zone. This is consistent with a previous study which reported higher levels of versican mRNA in the peripheral parts of the meniscus¹³⁵. Versican has been reported to be involved in many processes, including cell adhesion, proliferation, and migration, as well as ECM assembly¹³⁶, but the exact function of versican in the meniscus and the reason it is increased in the peripheral zone, are still unknown and require more research to elucidate.

Furthermore, the functional enrichment analysis on all proteins identified in paper III showed that the proteins in the meniscus, in all zones, are mainly extracellular proteins associated with ECM organisation, or proteins involved in exocytosis and cell secretion. This is expected since the meniscus primarily consists of ECM interposed with cells^{23,39}. Moreover, the proteins that were more abundant in the peripheral zone compared to the inner zone were mainly intracellular, and involved in intracellular processes and organisation of cellular components. This suggests that the peripheral zone contains more cells than the inner zone. Indeed, a previous study has suggested that the peripheral zone has a higher cell density compared to the other zones⁴³. In contrast, the proteins that were more abundant in the inner zone compared to the peripheral zone were found to be associated with ECM organisation and collagen trimer formation and organisation. The network analysis also revealed a distinguished cluster of collagens associated with the serine protease HTRA1, which has been found to be the most abundant protease in articular cartilage¹³⁷. Therefore, these results suggest that the inner zone of the meniscus is more similar to articular cartilage in its composition, which is consistent with the presence of chondrocyte-like cells in that zone³⁹. Similar results were found comparing the peripheral zone with the middle zone.

Vascularisation of the meniscus – and differences between articular cartilage and meniscus

Several proteins associated with blood circulation were identified in **paper III**, and several of them, e.g. the two subunits of haemoglobin (HBA and HBB), were more abundant in the peripheral zone compared to the middle and inner zones of the meniscus. This corresponds well with previous reports of the peripheral third of the meniscus being vascularised³⁴. However, several blood proteins, such as serum albumin and serotransferrin, were among the most abundant proteins overall, in all three zones. HBB and serotransferrin were also among the top 10 proteins in the meniscus samples in **paper II**. Furthermore, since articular cartilage is known to be avascular³³, it was not surprising that one of the most abundant proteins in human plasma, alpha-1-antitrypsin (A1AT), was differentially expressed between the meniscus and articular cartilage samples, being on average five times more abundant in the meniscus samples.

However, in **paper II**, several plasma proteins could also be identified in the articular cartilage samples. The presence of plasma proteins in an avascular tissue, and the presence of plasma proteins in the avascular parts of the meniscus, might be explained

by the ability of cartilaginous tissues to absorb molecules, in this case plasma proteins, from their surroundings, e.g. synovial fluid or the synovium¹³⁸. Both articular cartilage and all zones of the meniscus are in contact with the synovial fluid of the joint, and synovial fluid is an ultra-filtrate of plasma and therefore contains plasma proteins.

Furthermore, angiogenesis, or the growth of new blood vessels from pre-existing vasculature, has been reported to be associated with OA^{138–141}. In OA, angiogenesis has been seen to occur in the osteochondral junction, the synovium and the menisci, accompanied by increased growth of sensory nerves, which has been hypothesised to contribute to the pain of OA^{139,141,142}. Angiogenin is an angiogenic protein^{143,144}, which in **paper IV** of this thesis, was one of the proteins with higher intensity in the medial^{OA} menisci compared to the medial^{ref} menisci. This corresponds well with the observations of increased angiogenesis in OA. Interestingly, HBA was also one of the proteins that showed a higher mean intensity in the OA menisci in **paper IV**, which could be a result of increased angiogenesis. It might also be due to internal haemorrhages within the menisci of OA patients, caused by tissue damage and degeneration. Another potentially contributing factor could be intra-articular bleeding in the OA patients during TKR surgery, which may cause the menisci to be contaminated by blood, but since all menisci were rinsed with PBS prior to dissection, surface contamination by blood is a less likely explanation for the observed differences.

Several interesting features were observed in histology and µCT analyses of the meniscus, including channel-like structures that penetrated from the peripheral border, deeper into the meniscal tissue. These channel-like structures do not significantly attenuate X-rays, and therefore might represent vascularisation. However, they appear to penetrate deeper than what has been reported in the literature. Similar structures have previously been described as loose connective tissue by Petersen and Tillman⁵³. Another study reported radially oriented tie-fibres that form a branching and sheet-like network wrapping around the circumferentially oriented collagen bundles in the meniscus⁵², which could explain our observed structures. In addition, the same study reported that blood vessels, surrounded by proteoglycan-rich regions, are enclosed by these tie-fibre sheets⁵². Indeed, we observed similar branch-like proteoglycan-rich structures in the SafO-FG-stained menisci, which appear to coincide with the channellike structures we observe in µCT. However, in order to determine what these structures are, and to rule out that they simply are blood vessels, we need to perform further histological evaluations with specific stains for vascular and perhaps neurological structures, in the future.

Proteoglycan content is increased in menisci from OA patients

In **paper I**, we observed increased matrix staining using SafO-FG in the medial^{OA} menisci, indicating an increase in proteoglycan content with increasing degeneration. The same pattern could be observed in **paper IV**, where the same menisci were analysed with MS. In this study, several proteoglycans showed higher intensities in the medial^{OA}

menisci compared to the medial^{ref} menisci. In articular cartilage, OA is associated with loss of proteoglycans¹⁴⁵, but the opposite has been observed in menisci during OA^{45,146}. This has been hypothesised to be an attempt at repair or regeneration^{45,146}. In order to understand this interesting difference between articular cartilage and menisci, and to investigate the role of the increased proteoglycan content in degenerating menisci, more studies are needed. Perhaps the difference is a result of the different cell types found in articular cartilage and the meniscus.

There is increased activation of both catabolic and anabolic processes in menisci from OA patients

In paper IV, proteomic comparison of menisci from OA patients and reference subjects was performed, along with pathway analysis of the proteins differing between the two groups. In this pathway analysis, the pathway with the highest z-score was LXR/RXR activation, which was increased in medial^{OA} compared to medial^{ref} menisci. The LXR/RXR pathway consists of receptors that, when dimerised, can function as transcription factors^{147,148}. Interestingly, studies have reported the involvement or dysregulation of LXR/RXR pathways in OA tissue^{149–152}. For example, treatment with RXR agonists decreased aggrecan and fibrillin-2 gene expression and increased MMP13 gene expression in chondrocytes, which are changes associated with tissue degradation¹⁵⁰. Interestingly, the same study also reported an opposite effect for treatment with LXR agonists, which decreased the expression of MMP13 and MMP2, genes associated with cartilage breakdown. This indicates that LXR activation might act protectively on articular cartilage. In paper IV of this thesis, we observed an increase of both LXR and RXR activation in medial^{OA} menisci compared to medial^{ref} menisci. Similarly, we also observed a simultaneous increase of both the proteinase MMP3, which induces breakdown of cartilage, as well as its inhibitor metalloproteinase inhibitor 1 (TIMP1), in the medial^{OA} menisci compared to the medial^{ref} menisci. Together, these results may indicate that there is an on-going degradation process in the OA menisci, but also a simultaneous attempt to stop the degradation. In addition, MMP3 has been suggested as a potential biomarker for OA with high levels in serum, synovium, synovial fluid and articular cartilage from OA patients¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁶. We can now show that this also appears to apply to the human meniscus.

All tissue samples were frozen and thawed prior to processing and analysis

In this thesis, all tissue specimens used were frozen and then thawed prior to sample processing and analysis, which could have an effect on tissue integrity, with for example enlarged extracellular spaces and shrunken cells¹⁵⁷. Unfortunately, the biobanking procedure necessitates the freezing step, and it would be a large logistical challenge to avoid this, especially with patient samples obtained from the hospital in Trelleborg. Nevertheless, all samples in the studies underwent the same sample preparation processes, and the results in each study should therefore be comparable to each other.

On a positive note, storage of tissue at -80°C has been shown to preserve proteins well for many years 158 .

A HMDS-based µCT method allows 3D visualisation of meniscal tissue

As a first step to investigate the biology of the human meniscus, a histology and μCT analysis of reference and OA menisci was performed in **paper I**, in order to increase our knowledge about the three-dimensional microstructure of the meniscus. In addition to histological tissue staining, a HMDS-based μCT methodology was used. This method had previously been used in articular cartilage with a successful outcome^{120,159}, and was therefore predicted to work well with meniscal tissue.

HMDS-based μ CT offers several advantages over existing tissue imaging methods such as conventional histology and clinical or *ex vivo* MRI. It enables volumetric visualisation and evaluation of the tissue's 3D organisation, better resolution, and the possibility of an analysis free of the use of an external contrast agent, since drying the samples using HMDS allows contrast to arise from the tissue itself, and not from the distribution of any specific contrast agent. In this thesis, we show that this method enables unique 3D visualisation of several features such as collagen organisation, surface morphology, and tissue calcification that can otherwise only be seen using 2D histology techniques, which indeed we observed in our histology analysis.

Despite all the advantages with the μ CT analysis, there are some drawbacks. Even though HMDS has been shown to be a suitable drying agent that preserves the microstructure of osteochondral samples¹²⁰, it should be noted that the tissue structure in HMDS-dried meniscus samples may not resemble its intact state *in vivo*. Furthermore, μ CT, like other imaging techniques, has artefacts. In **paper I**, the most significant artefacts were streaking artefacts caused by calcifications in the menisci. These occur due to substantial differences in X-ray attenuation between calcified and non-calcified meniscus regions, and could be prevented by decalcifying the samples prior to analysis. However this treatment would make calcifications less visible in the μ CT images, and would not be a true representation of the structural state of the menisci.

DIA is superior to DDA in regards to variation and missing values

In the next step of our analysis of the meniscus, we wanted to use proteomics to further increase our knowledge of meniscal biology. MS-based proteomics offers more detailed molecular information about the tissue compared to microstructural methods such as histology and μ CT, and allows the simultaneous analysis of several hundreds of proteins. In the second paper of this thesis, we aimed to compare two different MS methods, DDA and DIA, in order to decide which method to use in future studies. We found that the DIA analysis found more differentially expressed proteins, even after FDR control, which can be explained by the more precise estimates yielded by the DIA analysis, compared to DDA. This, however, could be explained by the fact that the

peptides were manually selected in DIA, resulting in the removal of peptides with worse chromatographic performance.

Nonetheless, one of the biggest advantages with DIA was the lower number of missing values. This was probably due to differences in how data are acquired between the methods. DIA measures everything within a certain isolation window^{109,116,160}, whereas DDA only selects the most abundant ions to measure. If too many peptides elute at the same time in one DDA MS1 scan, this could result in missing quantitation of lower abundance peptides. This also makes DDA less reproducible compared to DIA. On the other hand, even though DIA seemed superior to DDA in several ways, both methods, as expected, gave on average similar point estimates of the differences between articular cartilage and the meniscus (the two tissues analysed in **paper II**). But, all in all, the advantages of DIA were several, which prompted us to use this method in the subsequent **papers III** and **IV**.

Protein extraction using GdnHCl is suboptimal for collagen analysis

In all three of the proteomic studies of this thesis, several collagens were identified. However, in all these studies, the protein extraction method was based on GdnHCl, which is suboptimal for collagen extraction; depending on the extent of collagen cross-linking or the subtypes present in different samples, the extraction results may vary¹¹¹. Therefore, it might be difficult and premature to draw extensive conclusions about the identified collagens, without further validation.

Data analysis is a challenge when conducting MS experiments

Apart from sample preparation, one of the largest challenges with MS is the large amount of raw data that is produced, which requires advanced software to analyse. In paper II of this thesis, analysis of the DIA data was performed in Skyline, which required tedious, time-consuming manual peak selection. Skyline also required a spectral library, consisting of DDA runs, to be used for the search, which also increased the instrument time necessary for analysis. Development and implementation of new software, such as Spectronaut[™] Pulsar, has greatly compensated for these drawbacks of DIA. First of all, with Spectronaut, which was used for data analysis in papers III and IV, it is possible to search your DIA data without a spectral library, by a process called directDIA[™]. This is done by the software by first converting the DIA spectra into pseudo DDA spectra, and by subsequently searching them with the search engine Pulsar. Next, a targeted re-extraction on the DIA data is performed, which results in less missing values and good retrieval of low abundance peptides. This data analysis method was used in paper III. In paper IV, however, a spectral library was created using a combination of both DDA and DIA runs. An additional advantage of Spectronaut is that it contains an algorithm for automatic peak selection, making it less timeconsuming than Skyline, which was used in paper II.

In **papers III** and **IV**, functional enrichment and pathway analyses were also implemented. These analyses are based on current knowledge and published data about different proteins and their interactions with other proteins, and their involvement in various pathways¹⁶¹. It is a way to summarise the biological relevance of the results in a more comprehensive way. However, the human body is much more complex than what can be included in a single pathway, and in reality, it can be several thousands of interactions between different pathways that are responsible for a certain phenotype. Still, pathway analysis can be a useful tool when trying to interpret and understand the biological relevance of complex proteomic data.

Conclusions

- HMDS-based µCT successfully allows unique 3D visualisation of meniscus microstructures.
- The lateral side of the knee does not appear to be as affected as the medial side during medial compartment knee OA.
- The most posterior part of the posterior horn of the menisci is most prone to degeneration.
- Proteoglycan content is increased in menisci from OA patients.
- Despite similarities in proteomic constitution between articular cartilage and the meniscus, there are significant differences between the two tissue types, such as higher levels of vascularisation and asporin and versican content in meniscus samples.
- When comparing two MS methods, DIA data yielded more precise estimates and more differentially expressed proteins, with fewer missing values compared to DDA.
- There were large zonal differences in proteomic composition in menisci from healthy donors, where the peripheral zone was more cellular and vascularised, whereas the middle and inner zones were more similar to articular cartilage, with high levels of ECM proteins such as aggrecan and collagen type II.
- OA menisci appear to have higher levels of angiogenin and HBB, which could suggest increased angiogenesis or internal bleedings in these menisci.
- There appears to be increased activation of both catabolic and anabolic processes in menisci from OA patients, with increased levels of MMP3 and TIMP1.
- Both microstructural and proteomic analyses showed degeneration of OA menisci, suggesting a strong association between OA and meniscal degeneration.

Future perspectives

The papers in this thesis have provided new knowledge about the proteome and microstructure of the human meniscus, both in health and disease. Nevertheless, to increase our knowledge even further and to improve our understanding of the role of the meniscus in OA, more research is needed.

First of all, it would be desirable to repeat the studies in new cohorts and other individuals, preferably with larger sample sizes.

Another interesting topic concerning the human meniscus would be to explore what may be considered normal ageing and what may be considered disease. Several studies, including **paper I** in this thesis, have suggested that the meniscus, like any other tissue in the body, deteriorates with increasing age^{92,121,162}. Therefore, it would be interesting to study a larger number of reference menisci without OA, from donors of varying ages, in order to investigate how the proteome changes with age.

In several of the papers in this thesis, variations in vascularisation were observed, both between the different zones of the meniscus, and between menisci from OA patients and references. It has been suggested that vascularisation affects the healing ability of the meniscus, and that angiogenesis is a part of OA pathogenesis^{138–141}. It would be interesting to further investigate the association of angiogenesis with OA, particularly in the meniscus, and to see if the same angiogenic changes can be seen in age-related degeneration. Furthermore, in the histology and μ CT analyses in **paper I**, we observed channel-like structures, although we could not determine what they are. Are they blood vessels? If they indeed are blood vessels, why do we predominately observe them in menisci with lower histopathological grades? To answer the question of the origin of these structures, histological staining for vascular structures would be a suitable analysis in the future.

In **paper III**, we investigate the proteomic differences between the three zones of the human healthy meniscus. We are also planning to do this in OA menisci, since it would be interesting to see if the same zonal differences can be seen, and if some zones are more prone to degeneration. Several studies have reported that the posterior horn is the part of the meniscus that most predominantly degenerates, which is why a comparison of the different regions of the meniscus, i.e. the posterior horn, body and anterior horn, would be of interest as well.

In this thesis, the main focus has been on the reference menisci and menisci from OA patients, however the biobank also contains meniscus pieces from meniscectomy patients. These patients are mainly younger subjects who have sustained a traumatic knee injury, which required a small piece of the meniscus to be removed. According to previous research, these patients suffer a higher risk of developing knee OA^{15,100,101}, and would therefore be truly interesting to study. How does their meniscal proteome differ from the end-stage knee OA patients, and indeed reference menisci? Would it be possible to identify any activated disease processes in these menisci? It would also be interesting to see if we would observe any of the changes that we observe in OA menisci, already in the menisci from knees with traumatic injuries. This would substantially increase our knowledge about the OA disease process and how a meniscal injury could lead to knee OA.

Furthermore, as we continue to explore the proteome of the human meniscus, and as our knowledge of the processes and mechanisms that occur in the meniscus during OA increases, we will be able to identify a panel of potential OA biomarkers based on meniscus degeneration. Since the meniscus itself is quite inaccessible and inappropriate to be used for screening purposes, it would be interesting, and desirable, to see if we would be able to identify such markers in synovial fluid, or even more desirably in plasma or serum, using targeted analyses. The long-term goal would be to identify early diagnostic markers for meniscal degeneration and/or OA that could aid earlier diagnosis, which would make it possible to start potential treatment earlier. However, since there is no cure for OA today, new treatments are needed, and in addition to the potential identification of OA biomarkers, an increased knowledge of the biology of the meniscus in health and OA could also help us identify new potential treatment targets.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)

Artros är den vanligaste reumatiska ledsjukdomen i Sverige och drabbar ungefär var fjärde person över 45 år. Även globalt är artros vanligt och år 2010 uppskattades ungefär 250 miljoner människor världen över lida av knäledsartros. Ålder, övervikt och en historia av ledskador eller överbelastning, exempelvis p.g.a. av tungt arbete, är de vanligaste riskfaktorerna, men man har också sett att det är vanligare att kvinnor drabbas. Smärta och stelhet i leden är de vanligaste symptomen, och den drabbade leden kan ibland svullna upp.

I en frisk led täcks benytan av en stark och glatt vävnad som kallas ledbrosk. Brosket underlättar för leden att röra sig mer friktionsfritt. I knäleden finns det också en annan typ av halvmåneformade, broskliknande vävnader som kallas menisker. Det finns två i varje knä, och deras främsta funktion är att vara stötdämpande, stabiliserande och jämna ut krafterna i knät. Meniskerna består främst av en vävnad som kallas extracellulärmatrix, som är ett nätverk av olika molekyler och som omger de celler som finns i vävnaden.

Traditionellt sett har artros karakteriserats av en förhöjd nedbrytning av ledbrosk tillsammans med förändringar i det underliggande benet, men studier under senare år har visat att även meniskerna drabbas vid artros. Man har också sett att personer som drabbas av meniskskador i högre utsträckning drabbas av artros. Idag finns inga botemedel mot artros, utan endast behandling av symptomen, såsom smärtlindring eller fysioterapi. Därför behövs mer kunskap om vad händer i leden för att kunna utveckla nya behandlingar.

Målet med den här doktorsavhandlingen har varit att studera mänskliga menisker och undersöka vilken betydelse meniskerna har vid artros. Detta har vi gjort genom att undersöka friska menisker från avlidna vävnadsdonatorer och sjuka menisker från artrospatienter. Vi har studerat proteiner, vilket är stora biomolekyler som ibland kallas för kroppens byggstenar, och hur uttrycket av dessa proteiner varierar mellan olika delar av menisken samt mellan sjuka och friska menisker. Vi har också studerat hur extracellulärmatrixet i menisken förändras vid artros.

Vi kan visa att menisker från artrospatienter i större utsträckning har en aktiv nedbrytningsprocess där vävnaden är oorganiserad med förkalkningar och vätskeansamlingar. Vi har också sett att uttrycket av olika proteiner skiljer sig mellan sjuk och frisk meniskvävnad där sjuka artrosmenisker har en ökning av proteiner som bryter ned andra proteiner, s.k. proteaser, samtidigt som vävnaden svarar med att öka produktionen av proteiner kan motverka den här nedbrytningen.

Den här avhandlingen har ökat vår kunskap om meniskens biologi och de förändringar som sker i menisken vid artros. Fler studier är dock nödvändiga för att fullt klargöra vad som startar dessa sjukdomsprocesser. Förhoppningen är att i framtiden kunna hitta proteiner som kan hjälpa oss att tidigare upptäcka artros och urskilja vilka personer som har högre risk att drabbas, samt att bidra till utvecklingen av nya läkemedel mot artros.

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible without the help of so many people.

First of all, I want to thank my two supervisors; **Patrik Önnerfjord**, my main supervisor, and **Martin Englund**, my co-supervisor. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to join your two research groups almost five years ago, and for your guidance and mentorship during these years. I have learned so much and I will be forever grateful for that.

I also wish to thank everyone involved in the MENIX biobank. Without the staff at the hospital and lab in Trelleborg, and at Vävnadsbanken and Rättsmedicin in Lund, the biobank would not exist. I am so grateful and impressed by the level of engagement and commitment of which you all have contributed to the biobank. In addition, the biobank would not have been possible without the contribution of the patients and the organ donors and their relatives. I am so grateful for your contributions.

To all my fellow group members in the Molecular Skeletal Biology group at BMC, where I have spent most of my time, thank you for everything. Karin, my office neighbour and friend, thank you for being such a wonderful support to me during my time at the lab. You have looked after me, and my plants, and I am so grateful for all our little chats – I hope you understand how much it has meant to me. Anders, thank you for all your valuable input to my projects during the years and for always making time to answer my questions, whether that be how the labelling machine works or which antibodies to choose for Western blot. Neserin, I was so happy when you joined the group a couple of years ago. You have become a friend of mine, and you have always been there to help me with any problem that I might have. I wish you the best of luck in your future career! Dovile, my friend and fellow PhD student in the group. I have really enjoyed spending time with you, and I am grateful to have had you to share my problems with, usually relating to the mass spectrometer [©] To Tore, for great scientific advice and very amusing anecdotes about past times at the lab. To past members of the group, Viveka, Pilar and Kristin, thank you for being so nice to me and helping me learn my way at the lab. I was so sad to see you leave the group. A very special thank you to Viveka who introduced me to the world of having banana on knäckebröd. I am quite sure I would not have made it this far without it.

To my colleagues at the Clinical Epidemiology Unit at Wigerthuset, thank you for providing me with a sanctuary free from buzzing centrifuges, and for including me in

your group. Aleksandra, statues should be raised in your honour. Without you, this thesis would not have been possible. I cannot thank you enough for all the help you have given me during the years. The things that you do not know about statistics is not worth knowing. Lotte, thank you for everything. Thank you for always assisting me with whatever I needed help with, and for always doing it with a smile. Velocity, for all the extremely valuable feedback on manuscripts and projects, I am so grateful. And everyone else at the unit (past and present) - Karin, Martin R, Ali, Emma, Maria, Susanne, Ingrid, Caddie, Dan, Soran, Marie-Louise, thank you for being such wonderful colleagues and for the amazing Thursday fikas – the highlight of the week!

To my other colleagues at C12, thank you for creating such a nice working environment and very enjoyable lunches and fikas. It has been so much fun getting to know all of you! And to my lab neighbours and fellow members of "benknäckargänget"; **Deepak, André** and **Staffan** from the division of Orthopaedics, thank you for being such amazing colleagues. I am so happy for all the dinners and escape rooms and other fun outings that we had at the lab. Deepak, thank you for being a great friend. I could always go to you if there was something I wanted your feedback on or just wanted to talk about.

All in all, thank you for being the best colleagues a confused PhD student could ever wish for.

I also wish to acknowledge our research collaborators at the University of Oulu, in Finland, and specifically **Simo Saarakkala**, **Mikko Finnilä** and **Iida Kestilä**. I have really enjoyed working together with you, and thank you for letting me spend a week in your lab – it was definitely one of the highlights of my PhD!

Ever since I was little I have been interested in science. I grew up watching television shows like Hjärnkontoret and Vetenskapens Värld. I have been blessed with great teachers, all the way from first grade to university, who have always encouraged me read more, learn more and challenge myself more. I am forever grateful for this.

Jag är också lyckligt lottad att ha de bästa vännerna i världen. Elin, Ellen och Josefin ni kan inte ana hur glad jag är att ha er som vänner. De senaste 10 åren hade inte varit desamma utan er! Tack för att ni alltid finns där. Axel, Isabelle, Calle, Elina, Helena och Martin - det bästa gänget som finns! Tack för alla fina stunder vi har delat hittills och jag ser fram emot att dela ännu fler. Tack alla fantastiska biomedicinare, ni är bäst! Framförallt min egna "årgång", jag kunde inte ha bett om bättre kursare. Med sittningar, brännbollsturneringar och förvånansvärt underhållande tentaplugg, gjorde ni min tid i Lund helt oförglömlig. Framförallt vill jag tacka Hedvig, Matilda och Camilla. Hedvig, du förgyllde mina första år i Lund och jag kommer aldrig att glömma det. Matilda, jag är så glad att jag fick möjlighet att dela ett av de största äventyren i mitt liv med dig, och åka på utbyte till Newcastle upon Tyne. Jag kommer aldrig att glömma vår mögliga lägenhet med läckande tak och sniglar inomhus © Camilla, jag är så glad att du tog beslutet att lämna norra Sverige (Uppsala) och istället komma ner till Lund. Du blev snabbt en av mina godaste vänner och det finns inga andra som fikar så bra som vi!

Jag tacka **Fredrik**, min älskade sambo och bästa vän. Tack för att du alltid funnits där och för att du har hjälpt mig när det har varit tungt. Att doktorera har inte varit en dans på rosor och du har haft förståelse för att det ibland har blivit sena kvällar på labbet eller arbete på helgerna, samtidigt som du har gett mig perspektiv på tillvaron och hjälpt mig förstå vad som är viktigt i livet.

Till sist vill jag tacka min familj. **Mamma** och **pappa**, tack för all kärlek och stöd som ni har gett mig sedan jag föddes. Jag hade aldrig kommit så här långt utan er. Trots att ni förbjöd mig att läsa läxor på fredagarna efter skolan har ni alltid uppmuntrat mig till läsa och lära, och när jag har kommit och sagt att jag ska flytta till Lund eller Storbritannien, har ni aldrig varit annat än stöttande. **Mormor** och **morfar**, mina största supportrar. Jag är så tacksam för allt ni har gett mig genom åren och att jag har fått förmånen att spendera så mycket tid med er. Ni har alltid stöttat mig. Du, morfar, sa alltid att kunskap aldrig är tungt att bära, något som jag har försökt att leva efter. Det gör mig så ont att du inte fick vara med och dela det här med mig, men jag vet att du är med ändå och att du skulle vara så stolt. Jag saknar dig så. Den här avhandlingen är till dig.
References

- Nguyen U-SD, Zhang Y, Zhu Y, Niu J, Zhang B, Felson DT. Increasing prevalence of knee pain and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: survey and cohort data. *Ann Intern Med.* 2011;155(11):725-732. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-155-11-201112060-00004
- Turkiewicz A, de Verdier M, Engström G, et al. Prevalence of knee pain and knee OA in southern Sweden and the proportion that seeks medical care. *Rheumatology*. 2015;54(5):827-835. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keu409
- Peat G, McCarney R, Croft P. Knee pain and osteoarthritis in older adults: a review of community burden and current use of primary health care. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2001;60(2):91. doi:10.1136/ard.60.2.91
- 4. Vos T, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M, et al. Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*. 2013;380(9859):2163-2196. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61729-2
- Cross M, Smith E, Hoy D, et al. The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2014;73(7):1323. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204763
- 6. Turkiewicz A, Petersson IF, Björk J, et al. Current and future impact of osteoarthritis on health care: a population-based study with projections to year 2032. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2014;22(11):1826-1832. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2014.07.015
- Silverwood V, Blagojevic-Bucknall M, Jinks C, Jordan JL, Protheroe J, Jordan KP. Current evidence on risk factors for knee osteoarthritis in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2015;23(4):507-515. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2014.11.019
- Uhalte E, Wilkinson J, Southam L, Zeggini E. Pathways to understanding the genomic aetiology of osteoarthritis. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2017;26(R2):R193-R201. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddx302
- Sarzi-Puttini P, Cimmino MA, Scarpa R, et al. Osteoarthritis: An Overview of the Disease and Its Treatment Strategies. *Semin Arthritis Rheu.* 2005;35(1):1-10. doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2005.01.013
- 10. Man G, Mologhianu G. Osteoarthritis pathogenesis a complex process that involves the entire joint. *J Medicine Life*. 2014;7(1):37-41.
- 11. Iannone F, Lapadula G. The pathophysiology of osteoarthritis. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* 2003;15(5):364-372. doi:10.1007/bf03327357

- 12. Myers S, Brandt K, Ehlich J, et al. Synovial inflammation in patients with early osteoarthritis of the knee. *J Rheumatology*. 1990;17(12):1662-1669.
- 13. Goldring MB, Otero M. Inflammation in osteoarthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* 2011;23(5):471-478. doi:10.1097/bor.0b013e328349c2b1
- Englund M, Haugen IK, Guermazi A, et al. Evidence that meniscus damage may be a component of osteoarthritis: the Framingham study. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2016;24(2):270-273. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2015.08.005
- 15. Englund M, Roemer FW, Hayashi D, Crema MD, Guermazi A. Meniscus pathology, osteoarthritis and the treatment controversy. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* 2012;8(7):412-419. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2012.69
- 16. Outerbridge R. THE ETIOLOGY OF CHONDROMALACIA PATELLAE. J Bone Jt Surg Br Volume. 1961;43-B(4):752-757. doi:10.1302/0301-620x.43b4.752
- 17. Curl WW, Krome J, Gordon ES, Rushing J, Smith B, Poehling GG. Cartilage injuries: A review of 31,516 knee arthroscopies. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg.* 1997;13(4):456-460. doi:10.1016/s0749-8063(97)90124-9
- 18. Slattery C, Kweon CY. Classifications in Brief. *Clin Orthop Relat R*. 2018;476(10):2101-2104. doi:10.1007/s11999.00000000000255
- Feng JE, Novikov D, Anoushiravani AA, Schwarzkopf R. Total knee arthroplasty: improving outcomes with a multidisciplinary approach. *J Multidiscip Healthc*. 2018;11:63-73. doi:10.2147/jmdh.s140550
- 20. Paschos NK. Recent advances and future directions in the management of knee osteoarthritis: Can biological joint reconstruction replace joint arthroplasty and when? *World J Orthop.* 2015;6(9):655-659. doi:10.5312/wjo.v6.i9.655
- Brittberg M, Lindahl A, Nilsson A, Ohlsson C, Isaksson O, Peterson L. Treatment of Deep Cartilage Defects in the Knee with Autologous Chondrocyte Transplantation. *New Engl J Medicine*. 1994;331(14):889-895. doi:10.1056/nejm199410063311401
- 22. Guilak F, Pferdehirt L, Ross AK, et al. Designer Stem Cells: Genome Engineering and the Next Generation of Cell-Based Therapies. *J Orthop Res.* 2019;37(6):1287-1293. doi:10.1002/jor.24304
- 23. Fox AJ, Bedi A, Rodeo SA. The Basic Science of Human Knee Menisci. Sports Heal Multidiscip Approach. 2012;4(4):340-351. doi:10.1177/1941738111429419
- 24. Seedhom B, Hargreaves D. Transmission of the Load in the Knee Joint with Special Reference to the Role of the Menisci. *Eng Medicine*. 1979;8(4):220-228. doi:10.1243/emed_jour_1979_008_051_02
- Shoemaker S, Markolf K. The role of the meniscus in the anterior-posterior stability of the loaded anterior cruciate-deficient knee. Effects of partial versus total excision. *J Bone Jt Surg.* 1986;68(1):71-79. doi:10.2106/00004623-198668010-00009
- 26. Voloshin AS, Wosk J. Shock absorption of meniscectomized and painful knees: A comparative in vivo study. *J Biomed Eng.* 1983;5(2):157-161. doi:10.1016/0141-5425(83)90036-5

- 27. Fox A, Wanivenhaus F, Burge AJ, Warren RF, Rodeo SA. The human meniscus: A review of anatomy, function, injury, and advances in treatment. *Clin Anat.* 2015;28(2):269-287. doi:10.1002/ca.22456
- Makris EA, Hadidi P, Athanasiou KA. The knee meniscus: Structure–function, pathophysiology, current repair techniques, and prospects for regeneration. *Biomaterials*. 2011;32(30):7411-7431. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.06.037
- 29. Gardner E, O'Rahilly R. The early development of the knee joint in staged human embryos. *J Anat.* 1968;102(Pt 2):289-299.
- 30. Gray JC. Neural and Vascular Anatomy of the Menisci of the Human Knee. *J Orthop Sport Phys.* 1999;29(1):23-30. doi:10.2519/jospt.1999.29.1.23
- 31. Lento PH, Akuthota V. Meniscal injuries: A critical review. *J Back Musculoskelet*. 2000;15(2-3):55-62. doi:10.3233/bmr-2000-152-302
- 32. Katz LM, Weitzel PP. Knee Arthroscopy. 2009:11-23. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-89504-8_2
- 33. Buckwalter JA, Mankin HJ, Grodzinsky AJ. Articular cartilage and osteoarthritis. *Instr Course Lect.* 2005;54:465-480.
- 34. Arnoczky SP, Warren RF. Microvasculature of the human meniscus. *Am J Sports Medicine*. 1982;10(2):90-95. doi:10.1177/036354658201000205
- Mine T, Kimura M, Sakka A, Kawai S. Innervation of nociceptors in the menisci of the knee joint: an immunohistochemical study. *Arch Orthop Traum Su.* 2000;120(3-4):201-204. doi:10.1007/s004020050044
- 36. Kennedy JC, Alexander IJ, Hayes KC. Nerve supply of the human knee and its functional importance. Am J Sports Medicine. 1982;10(6):329-335. doi:10.1177/036354658201000601
- 37. Day B, Mackenzie WG, Shim S, Leung G. The vascular and nerve supply of the human meniscus. Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg. 1985;1(1):58-62. doi:10.1016/s0749-8063(85)80080-3
- Bird, Sweet M. A system of canals in semilunar menisci. Ann Rheum Dis. 1987;46(9):670. doi:10.1136/ard.46.9.670
- 39. Chen S, Fu P, Wu H, Pei M. Meniscus, articular cartilage and nucleus pulposus: a comparative review of cartilage-like tissues in anatomy, development and function. *Cell Tissue Res.* 2017;370(1):53-70. doi:10.1007/s00441-017-2613-0
- 40. Verdonk PCM, Forsyth RG, Wang J, et al. Characterisation of human knee meniscus cell phenotype. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2005;13(7):548-560. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2005.01.010
- Declercq HA, Forsyth RG, Verbruggen A, Verdonk R, Cornelissen MJ, Verdonk P. CD34 and SMA expression of superficial zone cells in the normal and pathological human meniscus. J Orthopaed Res. 2012;30(5):800-808. doi:10.1002/jor.21582
- 42. Stockwell R. The interrelationship of cell density and cartilage thickness in mammalian articular cartilage. *J Anat.* 1971;109(Pt 3):411-421.
- 43. Lin B, Richmond J, Spector M. Contractile actin expression in torn human menisci. *Wound Repair Regen.* 2002;10(4):259-266. doi:10.1046/j.1524-475x.2002.10410.x

- Proctor C, Schmidt M, Whipple R, Kelly M, Mow V. Material properties of the normal medial bovine meniscus. *J Orthopaed Res.* 1989;7(6):771-782. doi:10.1002/jor.1100070602
- 45. Herwig J, Egner E, Buddecke E. Chemical changes of human knee joint menisci in various stages of degeneration. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 1984;43(4):635. doi:10.1136/ard.43.4.635
- 46. Yanagishita M. Function of proteoglycans in the extracellular matrix. *Pathol Int.* 1993;43(6):283-293. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1827.1993.tb02569.x
- Pomin VH, Mulloy B. Glycosaminoglycans and Proteoglycans. *Pharm.* 2018;11(1):27. doi:10.3390/ph11010027
- Bursac P, Arnoczky S, York A. Dynamic compressive behavior of human meniscus correlates with its extra-cellular matrix composition. *Biorheology*. 2009;46(3):227-237. doi:10.3233/bir-2009-0537
- 49. Adams M, Muir H. The glycosaminoglycans of canine menisci. *Biochem J*. 1981;197(2):385-389. doi:10.1042/bj1970385
- 50. Scott PG, Nakano T, dd C. Isolation and characterization of small proteoglycans from different zones of the porcine knee meniscus. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta Bba Gen Subj*. 1997;1336(2):254-262. doi:10.1016/s0304-4165(97)00040-8
- Cheung HS. Distribution of Type I, II, III and V in the Pepsin Solubilized Collagens in Bovine Menisci. *Connect Tissue Res.* 2009;16(4):343-356. doi:10.3109/03008208709005619
- 52. Andrews SH, Rattner JB, Abusara Z, Adesida A, Shrive NG, Ronsky JL. Tie-fibre structure and organization in the knee menisci. *J Anat.* 2014;224(5):531-537. doi:10.1111/joa.12170
- 53. Petersen W, Tillmann B. Collagenous fibril texture of the human knee joint menisci. *Anat Embryol.* 1998;197(4):317-324. doi:10.1007/s004290050141
- 54. Scanzello CR, Markova DZ, Chee A, et al. Fibronectin splice variation in human knee cartilage, meniscus and synovial membrane: Observations in osteoarthritic knee. *J* Orthopaed Res. 2015;33(4):556-562. doi:10.1002/jor.22787
- 55. Schwarzbauer JE, DeSimone DW. Fibronectins, Their Fibrillogenesis, and In Vivo Functions. *Csh Perspect Biol.* 2011;3(7):a005041. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a005041
- 56. Miller RR, vitt CA. Thrombospondin in ligament, meniscus and intervertebral disc. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta Bba - Gen Subj. 1991;1115(1):85-88. doi:10.1016/0304-4165(91)90015-9
- 57. Kvansakul M, Adams JC, Hohenester E. Structure of a thrombospondin C-terminal fragment reveals a novel calcium core in the type 3 repeats. *Embo J.* 2004;23(6):1223-1233. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600166
- 58. Heinegård D. Fell-Muir Lecture: Proteoglycans and more from molecules to biology. Int J Exp Pathol. 2009;90(6):575-586. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2613.2009.00695.x
- Fife R. Identification of link proteins and a 116,000-Dalton matrix protein in canine meniscus. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1985;240(2):682-688. doi:10.1016/0003-9861(85)90076-1

- 60. Matsumoto K, Shionyu M, Go M, et al. Distinct Interaction of Versican/PG-M with Hyaluronan and Link Protein. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(42):41205-41212. doi:10.1074/jbc.m305060200
- 61. Kiani C, Chen L, Yao JW, Yee AJ, Yang BB. Structure and function of aggrecan. *Cell Res.* 2002;12(1):7290106. doi:10.1038/sj.cr.7290106
- 62. Hascall V, Heinegård D. Aggregation of cartilage proteoglycans. I. The role of hyaluronic acid. *J Biological Chem.* 1974;249(13):4232-4241.
- 63. Englund M, Guermazi A, Lohmander SL. The Role of the Meniscus in Knee Osteoarthritis: a Cause or Consequence? *Radiol Clin N Am*. 2009;47(4):703-712. doi:10.1016/j.rcl.2009.03.003
- 64. Englund M, Guermazi A, Gale D, et al. Incidental Meniscal Findings on Knee MRI in Middle-Aged and Elderly Persons. *New Engl J Medicine*. 2008;359(11):1108-1115. doi:10.1056/nejmoa0800777
- 65. Beaufils P, Becker R, Kopf S, et al. Surgical management of degenerative meniscus lesions: the 2016 ESSKA meniscus consensus. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatology Arthrosc*. 2017;25(2):335-346. doi:10.1007/s00167-016-4407-4
- 66. Kumm J, Roemer FW, Guermazi A, Turkiewicz A, Englund M. Natural History of Intrameniscal Signal Intensity on Knee MR Images: Six Years of Data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. *Radiology*. 2016;278(1):164-171. doi:10.1148/radiol.2015142905
- Svensson F, Felson DT, Zhang F, et al. Meniscal body extrusion and cartilage coverage in middle-aged and elderly without radiographic knee osteoarthritis. *Eur Radiol.* 2019;29(4):1848-1854. doi:10.1007/s00330-018-5741-3
- 68. Lee D-H, Lee B-S, Kim J-M, et al. Predictors of degenerative medial meniscus extrusion: radial component and knee osteoarthritis. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatology Arthrosc*. 2011;19(2):222-229. doi:10.1007/s00167-010-1274-2
- 69. AN OPERATION FOR DISPLACED SEMILUNAR CARTILAGE. J Amer Med Assoc. 1885;IV(21):581-581. doi:10.1001/jama.1885.02390960021008
- 70. Annandale T. Excision of the Internal Semilunar Cartilage, Resulting in Perfect Restoration of the Joint-Movements. *Brit Med J.* 1889;1(1467):291. doi:10.1136/bmj.1.1467.291
- 71. Jackson J. Degenerative changes in the knee after meniscectomy. *Brit Med J.* 1968;2(5604):525. doi:10.1136/bmj.2.5604.525
- 72. Appel H. Late Results after Meniscectomy in the Knee Joint: A Clinical and Roentgenologic Follow-Up Investigation. *Acta Orthop Scand.* 1970;41(S133):1-111. doi:10.3109/ort.1970.41.suppl-133.01
- 73. Sonne-Holm S, Fledelius I, Ahn NC. Results After Meniscectomy in 147 Athletes. *Acta* Orthop Scand. 2009;51(1-6):303-309. doi:10.3109/17453678008990803
- 74. Allen P, Denham R, Swan A. Late degenerative changes after meniscectomy. Factors affecting the knee after operation. *J Bone Jt Surg Br Volume*. 1984;66-B(5):666-671. doi:10.1302/0301-620x.66b5.6548755

- Jorgensen U, Sonne-Holm S, Lauridsen F, Rosenklint A. Long-term follow-up of meniscectomy in athletes. A prospective longitudinal study. *J Bone Jt Surg Br Volume*. 1987;69-B(1):80-83. doi:10.1302/0301-620x.69b1.3818740
- 76. Jeong H-J, Lee S-H, Ko C-S. Meniscectomy. *Knee Surg Relat Res.* 2012;24(3):129-136. doi:10.5792/ksrr.2012.24.3.129
- 77. Northmore-Ball, Dandy D, Jackson R. Arthroscopic, open partial, and total meniscectomy. A comparative study. J Bone Jt Surg Br Volume. 1983;65(4):400-404. doi:10.1302/0301-620x.65b4.6874710
- 78. Hamberg P, Gillquist J, Lysholm J. A comparison between arthroscopic meniscectomy and modified open meniscectomy. A prospective randomised study with emphasis on postoperative rehabilitation. *J Bone Jt Surg Br Volume*. 1984;66-B(2):189-192. doi:10.1302/0301-620x.66b2.6546759
- Faunø P, Nielsen A. Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy: A long-term follow-up. Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg. 1992;8(3):345-349. doi:10.1016/0749-8063(92)90066-k
- 80. Benedetto K, Rangger C. Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy: 5-year follow-up. *Knee Surg* Sports Traumatology Arthrosc. 1993;1(3-4):235-238. doi:10.1007/bf01560216
- 81. Bolano LE, Grana WA. Isolated arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. *Am J Sports Medicine*. 1993;21(3):432-437. doi:10.1177/036354659302100318
- Rangger C, Klestil T, Gloetzer W, Kemmler G, Benedetto K. Osteoarthritis After Arthroscopic Partial Meniscectomy. *Am J Sports Medicine*. 1995;23(2):240-244. doi:10.1177/036354659502300219
- 83. Williams RJ, Warner KK, Petrigliano FA, Potter HG, Hatch J, Cordasco FA. MRI Evaluation of Isolated Arthroscopic Partial Meniscectomy Patients at a Minimum Five-Year Follow-up. *Hss J.* 2007;3(1):35-43. doi:10.1007/s11420-006-9031-2
- Eichinger M, Schocke M, Hoser C, Fink C, Mayr R, Rosenberger RE. Changes in articular cartilage following arthroscopic partial medial meniscectomy. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatology Arthrosc.* 2016;24(5):1440-1447. doi:10.1007/s00167-015-3542-7
- 85. Moseley BJ, O'Malley K, Petersen NJ, et al. A Controlled Trial of Arthroscopic Surgery for Osteoarthritis of the Knee. *New Engl J Medicine*. 2002;347(2):81-88. doi:10.1056/nejmoa013259
- 86. Kirkley A, Birmingham TB, Litchfield RB, et al. A Randomized Trial of Arthroscopic Surgery for Osteoarthritis of the Knee. *New Engl J Medicine*. 2008;359(11):1097-1107. doi:10.1056/nejmoa0708333
- Sihvonen R, Paavola M, Malmivaara A, et al. Arthroscopic Partial Meniscectomy versus Sham Surgery for a Degenerative Meniscal Tear. *New Engl J Medicine*. 2013;369(26):2515-2524. doi:10.1056/nejmoa1305189
- 88. Sihvonen R, Paavola M, Malmivaara A, et al. Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy versus placebo surgery for a degenerative meniscus tear: a 2-year follow-up of the randomised controlled trial. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2018;77(2):188. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-211172
- Englund M. The role of biomechanics in the initiation and progression of OA of the knee. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatology. 2010;24(1):39-46. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2009.08.008

- RYTTER S, JENSEN L, BONDE J, JURIK A, EGUND N. Occupational Kneeling and Meniscal Tears: A Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study in Floor Layers. *J Rheumatology*. 2009;36(7):1512-1519. doi:10.3899/jrheum.081150
- Englund M, Felson DT, Guermazi A, et al. Risk factors for medial meniscal pathology on knee MRI in older US adults: a multicentre prospective cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2011;70(10):1733. doi:10.1136/ard.2011.150052
- 92. Pauli C, Grogan SP, Patil S, et al. Macroscopic and histopathologic analysis of human knee menisci in aging and osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2011;19(9):1132-1141. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2011.05.008
- 93. Berthiaume M-J, Raynauld J-P, Martel-Pelletier J, et al. Meniscal tear and extrusion are strongly associated with progression of symptomatic knee osteoarthritis as assessed by quantitative magnetic resonance imaging. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2005;64(4):556. doi:10.1136/ard.2004.023796
- 94. Hunter D, Zhang Y, Niu J, et al. The association of meniscal pathologic changes with cartilage loss in symptomatic knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatism*. 2006;54(3):795-801. doi:10.1002/art.21724
- 95. Podsiadlo P, Dahl L, Englund M, Lohmander LS, Stachowiak GW. Differences in trabecular bone texture between knees with and without radiographic osteoarthritis detected by fractal methods. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2008;16(3):323-329. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2007.07.010
- 96. Wolski M, Podsiadlo P, Stachowiak GW, Lohmander LS, Englund M. Differences in trabecular bone texture between knees with and without radiographic osteoarthritis detected by directional fractal signature method. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2010;18(5):684-690. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2010.01.002
- Lo GH, Niu J, McLennan CE, et al. Meniscal damage associated with increased local subchondral bone mineral density: a Framingham study. Osteoarthr Cartilage. 2008;16(2):261-267. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2007.07.007
- 98. Englund M, Guermazi A, Roemer FW, et al. Meniscal pathology on MRI increases the risk for both incident and enlarging subchondral bone marrow lesions of the knee: the MOST Study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2010;69(10):1796. doi:10.1136/ard.2009.121681
- 99. Lo GH, Hunter DJ, Nevitt M, Lynch J, McAlindon TE, for the Group O. Strong association of MRI meniscal derangement and bone marrow lesions in knee osteoarthritis: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2009;17(6):743-747. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2008.11.014
- 100. Roos H, Laurén M, Adalberth T, Roos EM, Jonsson K, Lohmander SL. Knee osteoarthritis after meniscectomy: Prevalence of radiographic changes after twenty-one years, compared with matched controls. *Arthritis Rheumatism.* 1998;41(4):687-693. doi:10.1002/1529-0131(199804)41:4<687::aid-art16>3.0.co;2-2
- 101. Englund M, Roos E, Lohmander L. Impact of type of meniscal tear on radiographic and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: A sixteen-year followup of meniscectomy with matched controls. *Arthritis Rheumatism*. 2003;48(8):2178-2187. doi:10.1002/art.11088

- 102. Chan W, Lang P, Stevens M, et al. Osteoarthritis of the knee: comparison of radiography, CT, and MR imaging to assess extent and severity. *Am J Roentgenol*. 1991;157(4):799-806. doi:10.2214/ajr.157.4.1892040
- 103. Englund M, Guermazi A, Roemer FW, et al. Meniscal tear in knees without surgery and the development of radiographic osteoarthritis among middle-aged and elderly persons: The multicenter osteoarthritis study. *Arthritis Rheumatism.* 2009;60(3):831-839. doi:10.1002/art.24383
- 104. TACHARYYA T, GALE D, DEWIRE P, et al. THE CLINICAL IMPORTANCE OF MENISCAL TEARS DEMONSTRATED BY MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING IN OSTEOARTHRITIS OF THE KNEE★. J Bone Jt Surgery-american Volume. 2003;85(1):4-9. doi:10.2106/00004623-200301000-00002
- 105. Englund M, Lohmander L. Risk factors for symptomatic knee osteoarthritis fifteen to twenty-two years after meniscectomy. *Arthritis Rheumatism*. 2004;50(9):2811-2819. doi:10.1002/art.20489
- 106. Hixson KK, Lopez-Ferrer D, Robinson EW, Paša-Tolić L. Encyclopedia of Spectroscopy and Spectrometry (Second Edition). *Mass Spectrom Appl Article Titles P*. 2010;(Nature4222003):2280-2288. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-374413-5.00061-0
- 107. Graves PR, Haystead TA. Molecular Biologist's Guide to Proteomics. *Microbiol Mol Biol R.* 2002;66(1):39-63. doi:10.1128/mmbr.66.1.39-63.2002
- 108. Zhou G, Li H, DeCamp D, et al. 2D Differential In-gel Electrophoresis for the Identification of Esophageal Scans Cell Cancer-specific Protein Markers. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. 2002;1(2):117-123. doi:10.1074/mcp.m100015-mcp200
- 109. Schubert OT, Röst HL, Collins BC, Rosenberger G, Aebersold R. Quantitative proteomics: challenges and opportunities in basic and applied research. *Nat Protoc*. 2017;12(7):1289. doi:10.1038/nprot.2017.040
- Old WM, Meyer-Arendt K, Aveline-Wolf L, et al. Comparison of Label-free Methods for Quantifying Human Proteins by Shotgun Proteomics. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. 2005;4(10):1487-1502. doi:10.1074/mcp.m500084-mcp200
- 111. Önnerfjord P, Khabut A, Reinholt FP, Svensson O, Heinegård D. Quantitative Proteomic Analysis of Eight Cartilaginous Tissues Reveals Characteristic Differences as well as Similarities between Subgroups. *J Biol Chem.* 2012;287(23):18913-18924. doi:10.1074/jbc.m111.298968
- 112. Aebersold R, Mann M. Mass spectrometry-based proteomics. *Nature*. 2003;422(6928):198-207. doi:10.1038/nature01511
- 113. Fenn J, Mann M, Meng C, Wong S, Whitehouse C. Electrospray ionization for mass spectrometry of large biomolecules. *Science*. 1989;246(4926):64-71. doi:10.1126/science.2675315
- 114. Yamashita M, Fenn JB. Electrospray ion source. Another variation on the free-jet theme. *J Phys Chem.* 1984;88(20):4451-4459. doi:10.1021/j150664a002
- 115. Gillet LC, Leitner A, Aebersold R. Mass Spectrometry Applied to Bottom-Up Proteomics: Entering the High-Throughput Era for Hypothesis Testing. *Annu Rev Anal Chem.* 2015;9(1):1-24. doi:10.1146/annurev-anchem-071015-041535

- 116. Chapman JD, Goodlett DR, Masselon CD. Multiplexed and data-independent tandem mass spectrometry for global proteome profiling. *Mass Spectrom Rev.* 2014;33(6):452-470. doi:10.1002/mas.21400
- 117. Zhang Y, Bilbao A, Bruderer T, et al. The Use of Variable Q1 Isolation Windows Improves Selectivity in LC–SWATH–MS Acquisition. *J Proteome Res.* 2015;14(10):4359-4371. doi:10.1021/acs.jproteome.5b00543
- 118. Silva JC, Gorenstein MV, Li G-Z, Vissers JP, Geromanos SJ. Absolute Quantification of Proteins by LCMSE A Virtue of Parallel ms Acquisition. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. 2006;5(1):144-156. doi:10.1074/mcp.m500230-mcp200
- 119. Keerthikumar S, Mathivanan S. Proteome Bioinformatics. 2016:101-107. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-6740-7_8
- 120. Kestilä I, Thevenot J, Finnilä MA, et al. In vitro method for 3D morphometry of human articular cartilage chondrons based on micro-computed tomography. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2018;26(8):1118-1126. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2018.05.012
- 121. Kestilä I, Folkesson E, Finnilä MA, et al. Three-Dimensional Microstructure Of Human Meniscus Posterior Horn In Health And Osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartilage. 2019. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2019.07.003
- 122. Fischer A, Jacobson K, Rose J, Zeller R. Hematoxylin and Eosin Staining of Tissue and Cell Sections. *Cold Spring Harb Protoc.* 2008;2008(6):pdb.prot4986-pdb.prot4986. doi:10.1101/pdb.prot4986
- 123. Schmitz N, Laverty S, Kraus VB, Aigner T. Basic methods in histopathology of joint tissues. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2010;18:S113-S116. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2010.05.026
- 124. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *J Royal Statistical Soc Ser B Methodol*. 1995;57(1):289-300. doi:10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- 125. Benjamini Y, Yekutieli D. False Discovery Rate–Adjusted Multiple Confidence Intervals for Selected Parameters. J Am Stat Assoc. 2005;100(469):71-81. doi:10.1198/016214504000001907
- 126. Szklarczyk D, Gable AL, Lyon D, et al. STRING v11: protein–protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2018:gky1131. doi:10.1093/nar/gky1131
- 127. Folkesson E, Turkiewicz A, Englund M, Önnerfjord P. Differential protein expression in human knee articular cartilage and medial meniscus using two different proteomic methods: a pilot analysis. *Bmc Musculoskelet Di.* 2018;19(1):416. doi:10.1186/s12891-018-2346-6
- 128. Zimmermann DR, Ruoslahti E. Multiple domains of the large fibroblast proteoglycan, versican. *Embo J.* 1989;8(10):2975-2981. doi:10.1002/j.1460-2075.1989.tb08447.x
- Grover J, Roughley P. Versican gene expression in human articular cartilage and comparison of mRNA splicing variation with aggrecan. *Biochem J.* 1993;291(2):361-367. doi:10.1042/bj2910361

- 130. Wilson CG, Nishimuta JF, Levenston ME. Chondrocytes and meniscal fibrochondrocytes differentially process aggrecan during de novo extracellular matrix assembly. *Tissue Eng Part.* 2009;15(7):1513-1522. doi:10.1089/ten.tea.2008.0106
- 131. McAlinden A, Dudhia J, Bolton MC, Lorenzo P, Heinegård D, Bayliss MT. Age-related changes in the synthesis and mRNA expression of decorin and aggrecan in human meniscus and articular cartilage. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2001;9(1):33-41. doi:10.1053/joca.2000.0347
- 132. Lewandowska K, Choi H, Rosenberg L, Sasse J, Neame P, Culp L. Extracellular matrix adhesion-promoting activities of a dermatan sulfate proteoglycan-associated protein (22K) from bovine fetal skin. *J Cell Sci.* 1991;99 (Pt 3):657-668.
- 133. Olsson E, Folkesson E, Peterson P, et al. Ultra-high field magnetic resonance imaging parameter mapping in the posterior horn of ex vivo human menisci. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2018;27(Ann Rheum Dis 70 2011):476-483. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2018.12.003
- 134. hada S, Ishijima M, Kaneko H, et al. The degeneration of medial meniscus in meniscal body and posterior horn shows a greater change than that in anterior horn according to the severity of medial meniscus extrusion in early- to primary-stage knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2019;27:S339. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2019.02.746
- 135. Fuller ES, Smith MM, Little CB, Melrose J. Zonal differences in meniscus matrix turnover and cytokine response. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2012;20(1):49-59. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2011.10.002
- 136. Wight TN. Versican: a versatile extracellular matrix proteoglycan in cell biology. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 2002;14(5):617-623. doi:10.1016/s0955-0674(02)00375-7
- 137. Wu J, Liu W, Bemis A, et al. Comparative proteomic characterization of articular cartilage tissue from normal donors and patients with osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatism.* 2007;56(11):3675-3684. doi:10.1002/art.22876
- 138. Melinte R, Jung I, Georgescu L, Gurzu S. VEGF and CD31 expression in arthritic synovium and cartilage of human knee joints. *Romanian J Morphol Embryology Revue Roumaine De Morphol Et Embryologie*. 2012;53(4):911-915.
- Bonnet C, Walsh D. Osteoarthritis, angiogenesis and inflammation. *Rheumatology*. 2005;44(1):7-16. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keh344
- 140. Gurzu S, Turdean S, Pop S, et al. Different synovial vasculogenic profiles of primary, rapidly destructive and osteonecrosis-induced hip osteoarthritis. An immunohistochemistry study. *Int Orthop.* 2017;41(6):1107-1112. doi:10.1007/s00264-016-3302-4
- 141. Mapp PI, Walsh DA. Mechanisms and targets of angiogenesis and nerve growth in osteoarthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* 2012;8(7):390-398. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2012.80
- 142. Ashraf S, Wibberley H, Mapp P, Hill R, Wilson D, Walsh D. Increased vascular penetration and nerve growth in the meniscus: a potential source of pain in osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2011;70(3):523. doi:10.1136/ard.2010.137844
- 143. Wiedłocha A. Following angiogenin during angiogenesis: a journey from the cell surface to the nucleolus. *Arch Immunol Ther Ex.* 1999;47(5):299-305.

- 144. Miyake M, Goodison S, Lawton A, Gomes-Giacoia E, Rosser C. Angiogenin promotes tumoral growth and angiogenesis by regulating matrix metallopeptidase-2 expression via the ERK1/2 pathway. *Oncogene*. 2015;34(7):890-901. doi:10.1038/onc.2014.2
- 145. Bertrand J, Held A. Cartilage, Volume 2: Pathophysiology. 2017:63-80. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-45803-8_4
- 146. Adams ME, Billingham ME, Muir H. The glycosaminoglycans in menisci in experimental and natural osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatism*. 1983;26(1):69-76. doi:10.1002/art.1780260111
- 147. Hiebl V, Ladurner A, Latkolik S, Dirsch VM. Natural products as modulators of the nuclear receptors and metabolic sensors LXR, FXR and RXR. *Biotechnol Adv.* 2018;36(6):1657-1698. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2018.03.003
- 148. Willy P, Umesono K, Ong E, Evans R, Heyman R, Mangelsdorf D. LXR, a nuclear receptor that defines a distinct retinoid response pathway. *Gene Dev.* 1995;9(9):1033-1045. doi:10.1101/gad.9.9.1033
- 149. Wanner J, Subbaiah R, Skomorovska-Prokvolit Y, et al. Proteomic profiling and functional characterization of early and late shoulder osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther*. 2013;15(6):R180. doi:10.1186/ar4369
- 150. Ratneswaran A, Sun M, Dupuis H, Sawyez C, Borradaile N, Beier F. Nuclear receptors regulate lipid metabolism and oxidative stress markers in chondrocytes. *J Mol Med.* 2017;95(4):431-444. doi:10.1007/s00109-016-1501-5
- 151. Sun MM-G, Beier F. Liver X Receptor activation delays chondrocyte hypertrophy during endochondral bone growth. Osteoarthr Cartilage. 2014;22(7):996-1006. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2014.05.003
- 152. Collins-Racie LA, Yang Z, Arai M, et al. Global analysis of nuclear receptor expression and dysregulation in human osteoarthritic articular cartilage Reduced LXR signaling contributes to catabolic metabolism typical of osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2009;17(7):832-842. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2008.12.011
- 153. Pengas I, Eldridge S, Assiotis A, McNicholas M, Mendes J, Laver L. MMP-3 in the peripheral serum as a biomarker of knee osteoarthritis, 40 years after open total knee meniscectomy. *J Exp Orthop.* 2018;5(1):21. doi:10.1186/s40634-018-0132-x
- 154. Chen J-J, Huang J-F, Du W-X, Tong P-J. Expression and significance of MMP3 in synovium of knee joint at different stage in osteoarthritis patients. *Asian Pac J Trop Med.* 2014;7(4):297-300. doi:10.1016/s1995-7645(14)60042-0
- 155. Lohmander SL, Hoerrner LA, Lark MW. Metalloproteinases, tissue inhibitor, and proteoglycan fragments in knee synovial fluid in human osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatism.* 1993;36(2):181-189. doi:10.1002/art.1780360207
- 156. Rose BJ, Kooyman DL. A Tale of Two Joints: The Role of Matrix Metalloproteases in Cartilage Biology. *Dis Markers*. 2016;2016:4895050. doi:10.1155/2016/4895050
- 157. Schäfer A, Kaufmann JD. What happens in freezing bodies? Experimental study of histological tissue change caused by freezing injuries. *Forensic Sci Int.* 1999;102(2-3):149-158. doi:10.1016/s0379-0738(99)00043-2

- 158. Shabihkhani M, Lucey GM, Wei B, et al. The procurement, storage, and quality assurance of frozen blood and tissue biospecimens in pathology, biorepository, and biobank settings. *Clin Biochem*. 2014;47(4-5):258-266. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2014.01.002
- 159. Rieppo L, Karhula S, Thevenot J, et al. Determination of Extracellular Matrix Orientation of Articular Cartilage in 3D Using Micro-Computed Tomography. *Osteoarthr Cartilage*. 2017;25:S254. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2017.02.428
- 160. Hu A, Noble WS, Wolf-Yadlin A. Technical advances in proteomics: new developments in data-independent acquisition. *F1000research*. 2016;5:F1000 Faculty Rev-419. doi:10.12688/f1000research.7042.1
- 161. Mitrea C, Taghavi Z, Bokanizad B, et al. Methods and approaches in the topology-based analysis of biological pathways. *Front Physiol.* 2013;4:278. doi:10.3389/fphys.2013.00278
- 162. Tsujii A, Nakamura N, Horibe S. Age-related changes in the knee meniscus. *Knee*. 2017;24(6):1262-1270. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2017.08.001

Proteomics of the human meniscus in health and osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis the most common joint disease in Sweden, and causes pain and dysfunction of the affected joint. It has a large impact on the daily life for those suffering from it. Today, there is no cure for osteoarthritis, hence more knowledge about the disease mechanisms is needed. Traditionally, knee osteoarthritis has been characterised by a degradation of the articular cartilage of the knee joint, but recent research suggest a role of the meniscus in osteoarthritis pathology. This thesis presents several methods to analyse human menisci that have increased our knowledge about the three-dimensional microstructure and proteome of healthy and osteoarthritic human menisci.



Elin Folkesson was born in 1991 in Kalmar in Småland. She moved to Lund in 2010 to study biomedicine at Lund University, and decided to stay to pursue a PhD. In her spare time she enjoys watching and participating in all kinds of sports, watching movies and tv series, and spending time with her friends and family. She also enjoys to travel, where Greece and Japan are two favourite countries to visit.





Division of Orthopaedics Department of Clinical Sciences Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:13 ISBN 978-91-7619-873-5 ISSN 1652-8220

